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The Group's consolidated net profit for the year was approximately
HK$419.6 million (2014: HK$477.3 million). The consolidated net
assets of the Group increased from approximately HK$3,204.2
million as at 31 March 2014 to approximately HK$5,061.1 million as
at 31 March 2015. The consolidated net profit was mainly
attributable to (i) net realised losses and net unrealised gains of
investments at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$192.2 million and approximately HK$551.3 million respectively;
(i) an increase in dividend income from investments in securities of
approximately HK$23.2 million; and (iii) share of losses of an
associate and a joint venture of approximately HK$5.5 million.

In May 2014, the Group entered into a subscription agreement (the
“Willie Subscription Agreement”) with an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Willie International Holdings Limited (“Willie”, whose
shares are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock code: 273) (“Subscriber
W"), pursuant to which Subscriber W has agreed to subscribe for
300 million new shares of Freeman Corporation Limited (“FCL"), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as at the date of
signing the Willie Subscription Agreement, at an aggregate
subscription price of HK$879 million (the “2014 May Subscription™).
The 2014 May Subscription was approved by the Shareholders at the
Company’s extraordinary general meeting held on 5 September
2014. The 2014 May Subscription was completed in September
2014 and the Company’s equity interest in FCL was diluted from
100% to approximately 71.7%.

In June 2014, the Group entered into a conditional sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Group agreed to
purchase the entire issued share capital of a company which is a
licensed corporation carrying out business in Type 2 (dealing in
futures contracts) regulated activity as defined under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, at a consideration
of HK$10 million (the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed
in February 2015.

In June 2014, the Group also entered into a joint venture agreement
with a wholly-owned subsidiary of Willie (the “Willie's subsidiary”)
and a joint venture company (the “JV Company”), pursuant to which
the Group and the Willie's subsidiary agreed to contribute or procure
the contribution of their respective holding of shares of HEC Capital
Limited (“HEC"”) to the JV Company in exchange for the same
amount of new shares to be allotted and issued by the JV Company
(the “JV Contribution”). Before completion of the JV Contribution,
the Group’s investment in HEC was accounted for as an investment
in an associate. The JV Contribution was then completed in June
2014 and the Group's investment in HEC was accounted for as an
investment in a joint venture since then. Upon completion of the JV
Contribution, the Group holds approximately 65.3% shareholding
interest in the JV Company and there is no change in the Group's
effective interest in HEC.
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In July 2014, the Board recommended distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2014 by way of bonus issue of shares
on the basis of one bonus share for every one then share with par
value of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “2014 July Bonus
Issue”). The 2014 July Bonus Issue was approved by the Shareholders
at the Company’s annual general meeting held on 28 August 2014
and total 344,137,910 bonus shares with par value of HK$0.01 each
were allotted and issued on 16 September 2014.

In September 2014, the Group further allotted and issued an
aggregate of 106,344,827 new shares of FCL for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$304.6 million to certain
independent subscribers (the “Other Subscriptions”). After the
completion of the Other Subscriptions, the Company’s equity
interest in FCL was further diluted from approximately 71.7% to
approximately 65.2%.

In October 2014, the Group entered into another subscription
agreement with a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Forefront Group
Limited (whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 885)) (“Subscriber F”), pursuant to which
Subscriber F has agreed to subscribe for 90 million new shares of
FCL at an aggregate subscription price of HK$247.5 million (the
“2014 October Subscription”). The 2014 October Subscription was
approved by the Shareholders at the Company’s extraordinary
general meeting held on 15 December 2014. The 2014 October
Subscription was then completed in January 2015, and the
Company's equity interest in FCL is further diluted from
approximately 65.2% to approximately 60.5%.

In December 2014, the Company completed share subdivision of
each of its issued and unissued shares with par value of HK$0.01
each into ten subdivided shares with par value of HK$0.001 each
(the “Share Subdivision”). The Share Subdivision was approved by
the Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 12 December 2014. The Share Subdivision became
effective on 15 December 2014 and the authorised share capital of
the Company was amounted to HK$5,000,000,000.00 divided into
5,000,000,000,000 shares with par value of HK$0.001 each.

In December 2014, the Company also completed a bonus issue of
3,441,379,100 bonus shares with par value of HK$0.001 each on
the basis of one bonus share for every two existing shares (the
“2014 December Bonus Issue”). The 2014 December Bonus lIssue
was approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 12 December 2014. After the
completion of the 2014 December Bonus Issue, the issued share
capital of the Company has been further enlarged to
10,324,137,300 shares in total.

During the current year, save as disclosed above, there were neither
other material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint venture companies.
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The Group resulted a gross loss for the year of HK$35.2 million
(2014 gross profit of HK$224.2 million), representing a substantial
decrease of approximately 115.7% as compared to the last year. It
was mainly due to the increase in net realised losses from the sale of
investments at fair value through profit and loss of approximately
HK$192.2 million (2014: a net gain of HK$107.4 million). Dividend
income from trading investments increased by approximately 40.8%
to HK$80.1 million as compared to HK$56.9 million in 2014, which
is mainly contributed by more dividends were received by the Group
from listed securities. Interest income from provision of finance
significantly increased by approximately 2.9 times to HK$27.7 million
as compared to HK$9.4 million in 2014 as more loans were granted
to customers during the year. Insurance brokerage income and
corporate finance advisory fee significantly increased by
approximately 4.2 times to HK$30.8 million as compared to HK$7.3
million in 2014. Both the insurance brokerage and corporate finance
advisory segments improved their segment performance as a result
of increase in customers’ portfolio. Income from securities
brokerage, placing, underwriting and margin financing services, was
HK$38.6 million, representing a decrease of 17.3% as compared to
HK$46.7 million in 2014 as lesser sizable underwriting, sub-
underwriting, placing and sub-placing transactions were undertaken
during the current year.

Other income and gains increased to HK$7.1 million for the year
(2014: HK$3.2 million). The Group also recorded significant net
unrealised fair value gains on securities held for trading of HK$551.3
million for the year (2014: HK$396.0 million). The Group shared
losses of HK$5.5 million from an associate and a joint venture for
the year (2014: HK$98.2 million). Cost saving is a continuous aim in
monitoring daily operations by the Group. This year, general and
administrative expenses amounted to HK$46.5 million, representing
an increase of approximately 31.4% as compared to HK$35.4 million
in 2014. Income tax expenses amounted to HK$42.8 million (2014:
HK$2.7 million), mainly represented the provision of deferred
taxation of HK$42.2 million (2014: deferred tax credit of
HK$52,000) for the tax effect of unrealised fair value gain on
securities held for trading.

Net profit attributable to shareholders for the year was HK$533.0
million (2014: HK$477.3 million). An earnings per share was HK
5.16 cents (2014: HK 6.01 cents, as restated).

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: payment of a final dividend
by way of 344,137,910 bonus shares with par value of HK$0.01
each approved by the Company’s shareholders (the “Shareholders”)
at the Company’s annual general meeting held on 28 August 2014).
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As at 31 March 2015, net current assets of the Group amounted to
HK$4,007.4 million (31 March 2014: HK$2,175.1 million) with cash
and bank balances of HK$50.7 million (31 March 2014: HK$57.2
million) and the current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) was
13.3 (31 March 2014: 11.1). The Group had secured and unsecured
other borrowings of HK$320.3 million (31 March 2014 HK$208.7
million). Gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings divided by the equity attributable to
owners of the Company was 9.3% (31 March 2014: 6.5%). The
other borrowings of the Group carried floating interest rates
calculated by reference to the Hong Kong dollar prime rate or
lender’s costs of funds were made in Hong Kong dollar. The Group's
exposure to foreign exchange rate was minimal. The Group did not
have any financial instruments used for hedging purpose.

The Group had no material capital commitment as at 31 March 2015
(31 March 2014: Nil). In light of the amount of liquid assets on hand
and banking facilities available, the Directors are of the view that the
Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing
operational requirements. The Group’s assets portfolio is mainly
financed by its shareholders’ funds. As at 31 March 2015, the Group
had shareholders’ funds of HK$3,454.5 million (31 March 2014:
HK$3,204.2 million). During the year, the Company raised net
proceeds from issue of new shares of FCL for approximately
HK$1,431.1 million which has been used as the general working
capital and additional funding on further expansion and
development of financial services and securities trading businesses.

As at 31 March 2015, investments at fair value through profit or loss
of HK$3,318.6 million (31 March 2014: HK$1,836.6 million) and an
available-for-sale investment of HK$32.2 million (2014: HK$18.5
million) were pledged to financial institutions to secure margin-
financing facilities provided to the Group.

Details of material acquisitions/disposals during the year are set out
in the section “Business Review".

The Group had no material capital commitment as at 31 March 2015
(31 March 2014: Nil).

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2015 (31 March 2014: Nil).
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As at 31 March 2015, the Group employed 28 staff members
including directors of the Company (2014: 29 staff). Staff costs
incurred for the year, including directors’ remuneration, were
approximately HK$12.8 million (2014: HK$11.2 million). It was the
remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees with
reference to their qualifications, experience and work performance
as well as market benchmarks. Remuneration packages, include
granting of share options, were structured to motivate individual
performance and contributions to the Group. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme and the Group operates a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its
employees.

In April 2015, the Company entered into the First Placing Agreement
with the Placing Agent, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
issue and the Placing Agent agreed to procure the First Subscribers
to subscribe for 1,376,551,640 First Warrants with First Mandatory
Exercise Rights, on a fully-underwritten basis, at the First Issue Price
of HK$0.01 per First Warrant with First Mandatory Exercise Rights.
The First Subscription Price is HK$0.43 per First Warrant Share. Upon
full exercise of the First Subscription Rights attached to the First
Warrants with First Mandatory Exercise Rights, a total of
1,376,551,640 First Warrant Shares with par value of HK$0.001
each will be issued under the First Specific Mandate.

In May 2015, the Company entered into the Second Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to issue and the Placing Agent agreed to procure the Second
Subscribers to subscribe for 688,275,820 Second Warrants with
Second Mandatory Exercise Rights, on a fully-underwritten basis, at
the Second Issue Price of HK$0.01 per Second Warrant with Second
Mandatory Exercise Rights. The Second Subscription Price is HK$0.55
per Second Warrant Share. Upon full exercise of the Second
Subscription Rights attached to the Second Warrants with Second
Mandatory Exercise Rights, a total of 688,275,820 Second Warrant
Shares with par value of HK$0.001 each will be issued under the
Second Specific Mandate.

Both the First Placing and Second Placing were approved by the
Shareholders at the SGM held on 24 June 2015. As at the date of
this annual report, 1,376,551,640 First Warrants with First
Mandatory Exercise Rights and 688,275,820 Second Warrants with
Second Mandatory Exercise Rights were issued to the warrantholders
but no First Warrant Shares under the First Placing or Second
Warrant Shares under the Second Placing were issued.
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Details of the above events and the capitalised terms in the above
paragraphs were set out and defined in the circular of the Company
dated 9 June 2015.

In April 2015, the Company granted share options to certain eligible
persons under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on
31 August 2012 to subscribe for a total of 688,275,820 ordinary
shares with par value of HK$0.001 each at an exercise price of
HK$0.49 per share (the “Share Options”). As at the date of this
annual report, no Share Options were exercised.

In June 2015, the change of dual foreign name of the Company
from "REMETREBEBRAFT" to "RESMIZEREMBR QA" (the
“Change of Company Name"”) was approved by the Shareholders at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 15 June 2015. A copy of
the certificate of incorporation on change of name dated 16 June
2015 issued by the Registrar for Companies in the Cayman Islands
was received by the Company on 24 June 2015. The Company have
submitted an application to the Companies Registry in Hong Kong to
apply for a certificate of registration of alteration of name of
registered non-Hong Kong company.

The Group always aims to enhance its service capacity in the
financial services industry. The recent bullish sentiment in the
financial and stock markets has opened up potentials and created
new opportunities for the Company to expand and improve its
businesses especially in the insurance brokerage, securities trading
and money lending areas. The Company intends to launch an
internet business platform to bring the Company to the digital age,
to strengthen existing businesses, and to pursue new opportunities
in the financial services industry in order to enhance values to the
Shareholders.

The Directors would like to take this opportunity express its gratitude
and appreciation to all shareholders, business partners, banks,
professional parties and employees of the Company for their
continuous contributions and support to the Group.

By order of the Board
Freeman Financial Corporation Limited

Lo Kan Sun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2015
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Mr. Lo Kan Sun (“Mr. Lo"), aged 61, joined the Company as
Executive Director in June 2008 and was re-designated as Managing
Director in November 2008. Mr. Lo was promoted as Acting
Chairman in July 2012 and as Chairman in July 2013. Mr. Lo holds a
Master’s degree in Business Administration from Indiana University in
the United States of America (“the USA"”) and a Bachelor’s degree in
Electrical Engineering from University of lllinois, the USA. Mr. Lo has
over 30 years of experience in finance, investment and banking in
Hong Kong and Canada.

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (“Mr. Hui”), aged 42, joined the
Company as General Manager in August 2010 and was re-
designated as Managing Director in September 2010. Mr. Hui holds
a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) degree and a Bachelor of Economics
degree from the University of Sydney, Australia. Mr. Hui has over 15
years of investment banking, financial services and legal experience.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hui was a managing director with
Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited (”Credit Suisse”). Before that, Mr.
Hui was a managing director and Head of Hong Kong Banking in
Global Banking of Deutsche Bank Group (“Deutsche Bank"”). During
his service with Deutsche Bank and Credit Suisse, Mr. Hui worked on
and supervised the completion of many landmark mergers and
acquisitions and fund-raising transactions. Mr. Hui was a solicitor
with Linklaters in Hong Kong before joining Deutsche Bank, and was
admitted as solicitor of the Supreme Court of England and Wales,
legal practitioner of the Supreme Court of New South Wales,
Australia, and solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong.

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue (“"Ms. Au”), aged 50, joined the Company as
Executive Director in June 2006. Ms. Au has obtained a bachelor’s
degree of science in accounting from Liberty University, Virginia and
has more than 10 years of experience in business administration and
accounting. Previously, Ms. Au was the managing director of a
telecommunication equipment manufacturing and trading company
and was the Chief Executive Officer of a listed company before
joining the Company.

Ms. Chow Mun Yee (“Ms. Chow"), aged 39, joined the Company's
accounts and company secretarial department in December 2010
and was appointed as Executive Director in February 2011. Ms.
Chow is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and holds a Bachelor (Hons) degree
in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Ms. Chow was also appointed as Company Secretary in March
2011. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Chow has over 13 years of
experience in accounting and auditing at an international accounting
firm and has extensive experience in financial services, investment
and property development.

EEHAEE(EREE]) 615 R_FFT/\F
NAMARRR BERTES AR _FFTN
Ft-—AAEREFALE - BERER-_F—=
FLABAR/REER R-F—=FtA8H
RIF - EXERFAXNBERE ([XE])EH
ELMARTIHERBELBUMEBEFMNEX
ERETRESTEM - BEAERBTERNERD
TR CBREMRITEREEIOFER-

i

AEREE ([FFEE]) 25 R-_F—FF
NAMARRE FEEEE YR _-_FT-FF
NAREREFRLE - FFAERARMEBEKR
B2 (RB)BELREBEELEM -FRER
BRERT SMRHEPEZETEREEBISFR
B RIMARRAR  FFRERKLIEE (FE)
BRAR (mEl) 2 EFREE - Z Al
AEERBESROEE ([REERTZE
SRKERERKBITHNEERIE -RRE
BEESRTAREDE FLERRYEET
REHARREZWBEHEEER S FFE
RINBEREERITA DEBFNERMEBH
ZREDI R A R AR M BT = F AR
R RN AT RS ERRMEEES
ERB BT RED

Al

Al

REL L ([fzt]) 505 RZBEEREF
NAMARRR - EERTES - MZTRES
fE 25 M Liberty UniversityBR {5 & st 218 2+ &
A WHEB10F LA EITTHREE R EET4E5R -M K
THRMARRFIAER —HEARBEERE
SRRAEBESRALE TEET—BLTAF
ZATHHBE -

RN E([SNE]) 395 R-FT—FF
TZAMARRR G R ARWER XN _F
——F - ARZERWTEF -FNARBTES
AEMASLEBARFARGAMAGZERS
BRRERRBTXARBEE 2 TITRHER (KE)
BB -FMEAR_E——F=ANEEZER
NAEWE - RINAKR AR A 8/ B — R
GEETTHARIBESA RERLR LESA
R RERMERETOHBEEELR-



Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 48, has been
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company on 7 August 2013. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of
experience in auditing and accounting fields. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy with honours from City University of Hong
Kong and is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung is an executive
director of Willie International Holdings Limited (“Willie”, a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) where Willie holds
703,159,470 shares of the Company, representing approximately
6.81% of the total issued shares of the Company as at 31 March
2015.

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (“Mr. Chung”), aged 54, has been appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 7
August 2013. Mr. Chung is a fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an Associate
Chartered Accountants (England and Wales). Mr. Chung has over 20
years’ experience in finance and project investment.

Mr. Hung Cho Sing (“Mr. Hung"), aged 74, joined the Company as
Independent Non-executive Director on 9 January 2013. Mr. Hung
has over 30 years of experience in the film distribution industry and
founded Delon International Film Corporation in 1970. Mr. Hung has
been the chairman of Hong Kong Motion Picture Industry
Association Limited since 1991 and was the chairman of Hong Kong
Film Awards Association Limited from 1993 to 1995. Mr. Hung was
appointed by the HKSAR Government as a member of the Hong
Kong Film Development Council from 2007 to 31 March 2013. Mr.
Hung was also appointed as a consultant of the China Film
Association since 2013. Mr. Hung is also a member of HKSAR
Election Committee and a vice-chairman of the Cultural Profession
Committee of the Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau Cooperation
Promotion Council (BER&E BB REEREG L EXZE SR FHE
% 8). Mr. Hung was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the
HKSAR Government in 2005 in recognition of his contribution to the
Hong Kong Film industry. Mr. Hung has been appointed by the
HKSAR Government as member of the Working Group on
Manufacturing Industries, Innovative Technology, and Cultural and
Creative Industries under the Economic Development Commission on
an ad personam basis for a term of two years with effect from 17
January 2015.
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Dr. Agustin V. Que (“"Dr. Que”), aged 68, joined the Company as
Independent Non-executive Director in September 2010. Dr. Que
holds Doctor of Philosophy and Master degrees in Business
Administration, both majoring in Finance, from the Wharton School
of the University of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, the
USA. Dr. Que has been involved in the field of finance for more than
35 years as a private equity investor, merchant banking, corporate
and development finance professional in Jakarta, Hong Kong,
Singapore, Boston and Washington, District of Columbia. Dr. Que
recently returned to Manila after 15 years in Jakarta where Dr. Que
was corporate finance adviser to an Indonesian holding company
with diversified interests in agribusiness, property and financial
services. In this position, Dr. Que was responsible for mergers and
acquisitions, new investments, business development and investment
banking activities. Prior to Jakarta, Dr. Que worked in the financial
sector in Hong Kong for 12 years. Dr. Que started his career in
finance in Washington, District of Columbia, the USA with The
World Bank, over a period of 10 years. His last posting was senior
investment officer in the capital markets department of the
International Finance Corporation, The World Bank’s private
investment arm.
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The Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) has always valued
transparency and accountability as the keys for achieving a high
standard of corporate governance, earning the confidence of
shareholders and the public.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) as its own code on corporate governance practices.
Save as disclosed below, in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code and there have been no material deviations from the CG Code
during the year:

Code Provision A.6.7. — (i) Two Non-executive Directors were unable
to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28
August 2014; (ii) one Independent Non-executive Director and two
Non-executive Directors were unable to attend the extraordinary
general meetings of the Company held on 5 September 2014, 14
November 2014 and 15 December 2014; and (iii) two Independent
Non-executive Directors and two Non-executive Directors were
unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 12 December 2014, as they had other engagements.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that throughout the
year, all Directors have complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code.

1. Board composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Chairman), Mr. Hui
Quincy Kwong Hei (Managing Director), Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue
and Ms. Chow Mun Yee, and four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing Ping, Mr. Chung Yuk Lun,
Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Dr. Agustin V. Que. Director’s
biographical details are set out in the Biographical Details of
Directors on pages 10 to 12.

2. Change in Director’s information
Pursuant to the relevant requirement under the Listing Rules,
the changes in Director’s information since the date of 2014
Interim Report of the Company are set out below:
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Change in Director’s information (Continued)

Dr. Agustin V. Que, an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company resigned as an independent non-executive
director of Mascotte Holdings Limited with effect from 1
December 2014. Mr. Chung Yuk Lun, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, was re-designated from
acting Chairman to Chairman of Mascotte Holdings Limited
with effect from 1 May 2015. Mascotte Holdings Limited is
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Attendance records of board meetings and other general
meetings

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Board convened a total
of 20 full board meetings. Attendance records of the Board
meetings, other general meetings and the meetings of the
Board Committees during the year were set out below:
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Annual  Extraordinary
General General Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Board Meeting Meeting Committee Committee Committee
EZe RRBFAE RRKAIXE  BERZEEE HWEEE REZEE
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Chairman) ERHEE(FE) 18/20 "N 4/4 - - -
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei TEREA 0/20 17 24 - - -
(Managing Director) (EZ4545E)
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue gzt 9/20 01 44 - - -
Ms. Chow Mun Yee PR ME 1920 n 44 - - -
Independent Non-executive ~ BYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping RETEE 1720 I 414 212 17 11
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun BEERLE 1520 17 404 M - -
Mr. Hung Cho Sing HEERA 15/20 n 3/4 22 7N 11
Dr. Agustin V. Que Agustin V. Quef& 9/20 n 0/4 22 n n
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Andrew Liu (resigned on BB AL (RZE—1F 1120 01 0/4 - - -
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Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston BeELE(RZ2-1F 2120 01 0/4 - - -

(resigned on 15 January 2015)
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control
and overall strategic development of the Group, as well as
overseeing internal control, financial performance, overall
management and operations of the Group. The Board has
delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is
responsible for implementing the Group’s business strategies
and managing the daily business operations.

Independence of Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2015 and up to the date of
the annual report, the Company has complied with the
requirements under the Listing Rules and has appointed four
Independent Non-executive Directors, representing more than
one-third of the number of Directors at the Board, with at least
one of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence, and the Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the guidelines as set out in
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ professional development

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has also arranged in-house
training for Directors and provided the relevant materials to the
Directors.

All Directors have provided record of training to the Company.
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Directors’ professional development (Continued) 6. EBEERE (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Directors participated HE_Z—RAF=-H=T—HLFE &
in the following trainings: S22 THE -
Name Type of trainings
" & EIEE
Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Chairman) EEHMEE(FEFE) A, B
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (Managing Director) TR (BEFAAHE) A, B
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue &R + A, B
Ms. Chow Mun Yee M /NR A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BFHITES
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping SRERT S A A, B
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun BEBEE A, B
Mr. Hung Cho Sing M1 2 A A B
Dr. Agustin V. Que Agustin V. Quel# 4 A, B
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Andrew Liu (resigned on 15 January 2015) BEmrtEtE(R-ZE—RHF A, B
—A+ARABET)
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston (resigned on BeBitE(RZZ—1F A B
15 January 2015) —RA+tHRB#ET)
A: in-house training A AEBEEFN
B:  attending seminars and/or forums and/or reading relevant B: HEMNER dmiEk k&M@
materials #

The role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive are segregated.
Mr. Lo Kan Sun is the Chairman of the Company and provides
leadership for the Board. One of the major roles of Mr. Lo is to
ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibility properly. Mr. Lo also ensures that good corporate
governance practice is in force from time to time, and all key issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Hui Quincy
Kwong Hei, the Managing Director of the Company, performs the
role of Chief Executive of the Company and is responsible for
implementing the Group’s investment strategies within the
authorities delegated by the Board and managing the day-to-day
business of the Group.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director was for a period
of three years but subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association.
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Audit Committee

At the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises four Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (Chairman), Mr. Cheung Wing Ping, Mr.
Hung Cho Sing and Dr. Agustin V. Que. Each committee
meeting was chaired by an Independent Non-executive
Director. The principal duties of the Audit Committee include:

® monitoring integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and reports;

e reviewing financial controls, internal controls and risk
management system; and

*  reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies
and practices.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
perform its duties and has access to independent professional
advice if necessary. During the year, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the Group's internal control, the interim report for
the six months ended 30 September 2014 and the annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2015.

The Audit Committee convened two meetings for the year.
Additional meetings will be held if the Audit Committee shall
so request. The individual attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

Remuneration Committee

At the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Dr.
Agustin V. Que. The major roles and functions of the
Remuneration Committee as per the terms of reference are as
follows:

e to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management;

®  to review and recommend the remuneration packages of
all Executive Directors for approval by the Board; and

*  to review and approve compensation payable to Directors
in connection with loss of their offices or compensation
arrangement relating to dismissal or removal of Director.
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Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee has every right to access to
professional advice relating to remuneration proposal if
necessary. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and has access to
independent professional advice if necessary. During the year,
the Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration
package for the Directors and senior management of the
Group and no Director was involved in deciding his/her
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee adopted the
approach under the CG Code to determine and review, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee convened one meeting for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

Nomination Committee

At the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Dr.
Agustin V. Que. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee as per the terms of reference are as
follows:

° to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and make recommendations for appointment of directors/
chairman/chief executives; and

®* to assess the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and has access to independent
professional advice if necessary. During the year, the
Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board; and considered the appointment of
Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Nomination Committee (Continued)

Nomination Committee would make recommendations to the
Board regarding the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors, with reference to the skills, knowledge, experiences
education background, professional knowledge, personal
integrity of the proposed candidates, and also the Company's
needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations required for the positions. A candidate who is to be
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should
also meet the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the
Board for approval.

The Nomination Committee convened one meeting for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is disclosed under the section headed
"Board of Directors” above.

Board Diversity

The Board established a set of Board Diversity Policy setting out
the terms and approach to achieve diversity on the Board in
order to enhance its effectiveness and to maintain the high
standards of corporate governance. Board diversity has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, as well as the Company's business nature and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure
the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy and in order for the Board to
be effective. Board appointments will continue to be made on
a merit and contribution basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The current Board consists of
diverse mix of Board members appropriate to the requirement
of the business of the Company.

Corporate Governance Function

No corporate governance committee has been established. The
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties with written terms of reference as below:

e to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board;
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Corporate Governance Report

TtEERRS
BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) EFERER® (o)
4. Corporate Governance Function (Continued) 4. DEEARWE(E)
e to review and monitor the training and continuous s RIKEEREZERSREEEZHF
professional development of directors and senior REBEEXER:
management;
e to review and monitor the Company's policies and e R RERARAETERRER
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory HENBERTER:

requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct e HIE RIAKEREEREZERY
applicable to employees and Directors; and #gsrsr Al K&
e to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code e RIAARETFTLEEATANER
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. REGEERRENHIHRE -
During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s FAN BEEERAARANBEEBK
policies and practices on corporate governance. KREH -
AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION ZHENEH &

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the remuneration paid/payable HREE_FT—AF=-_A=+—HUEFE B/
to the Company’s external auditors in respect of audit services and  JEfH KD &) 4030 4% i Al A B EAZ RS M IFEX

non-audit services were as follows: R% <z B&mT :
Nature of services Amount
i =1 -
HK$'000
BT T
Review of interim results EHPHEE 650
Audit services B 2,450
Non-audit services for other engagements Hiv EBEZ R IEEZIRG
(including very substantial disposal and major (BREFEFEALEFERTE
disposal transactions) HEFERZS) 388
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Ms. Chow Mun Yee is the Company Secretary of the Company, who
is also an Executive Director of the Company. She supports the
Board, ensures good information flow within the Board and Board
policy and procedures are followed, advises the Board on governance
matters and arrange continuous professional development to the
Directors. Her biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, Ms. Chow has confirmed
that she has duly complied with the relevant requirement under the
Listing Rules and taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls and risk
management of the Group and to review its effectiveness. The
internal controls of the Group was designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material assets were protected, business risks
attributable to the Group were identified and monitored properly,
material transactions were executed in accordance with proper
authorisation. It aims to provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

During the year, a review of key internal control procedures had
been conducted to ensure that processes had been properly carried
out as prescribed in making decisions; the internal control policies
had been properly followed; books and records and documents were
properly maintained; and the investment or divestment was in
compliance with relevant legislations, regulations or/and other
statutory requirements.

Investment in listed securities is the core of the Group’ s investments
which classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss in
the statement of financial position and may expose to market price
risk. The Board has continuously monitoring the Group's investments
with an aim to reduce such risk.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, any
two shareholders of the Company may request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by way of depositing
a written requisition at the registered office of the Company
(Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands) specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

Procedures for proposing a person for election as a
Director

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company may
from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board.

A shareholder of the Company may propose a person (the
“Person”) for election as a Director by lodging the following
documents at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Room 2302, 23rd Floor, China United Centre, 28
Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong:

(1) a notice in writing signed by the shareholder concerned of
his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director
with full particulars of the Person including his/her/its full
name and biographical details as required under the
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules; and

(2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her/its
consent to be elected as a Director.

The period for lodgement of such notice shall commence on
(and include) the day after the despatch of the notice of
meeting appointed for such election and end on (and exclude)
the date that is seven (7) days before the date appointed for
the general meeting.
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3. Procedures for shareholders to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company'’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. Other shareholders’ enquiries
can be sent by mail to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at Room 2302, 23rd Floor, China
United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong for
the attention of Company Secretary who will direct the
enquiries to the Board for their handling.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

1. The Company’s Constitutional Documents
There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2015.

2. Communication with Investors

The Company’s corporate website (www.freeman279.com)
facilitates effective communications with shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders, making corporate information
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
available electronically and on a timely basis. This includes
extensive historical information about the Group's performance
and activities via Interim Report, Annual Report,
announcements and other corporate information.

Shareholder’s meetings, such as annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meetings, provide another channel for
the Board to meet and communicate with shareholders. All
shareholders are provided with sufficient notice to attend the
shareholders’ meeting. The results of the voting by poll are
published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website on a timely basis.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of its results and cash flows.
The Directors ensure that the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2015 have been prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. They will also
ensure the publication of which be in a timely manner.
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Directors’ Report

EEERE

The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company and provides
corporate management services. Details of the principal activities of
the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue and results for the
year by operating segments are set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2015 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 32 to 123. A final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2014 by way of 344,137,910 bonus shares
with par value of HKO0.01 each approved by the Company's
shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting held on 28
August 2014 was made during the year. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Company for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out on page 124. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 12 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the share capital and share options of
the Company during the year are set out in notes 24 and 25 to the
financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the
Company during the year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 36 and note 38 to the financial statements.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends
shall be payable out of the profits or other reserves of the Company.
The Company's reserves available for distribution to the Company's
shareholders comprise share premium, capital redemption reserve,
contributed surplus, distributable reserve, shareholder’s contribution,
and retained profits, which in aggregate amounted to
HK$3,723,261,000 (2014: HK$3,732,781,000) at 31 March 2015.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group did not made any charitable
contributions.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the aggregate turnover during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represents less
than 30% of the Group’s total turnover.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers represents approximately 81.4% of the Group’s
total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier was approximately 44.6% of the Group’s total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, no Directors of the Company, their
close associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the
Directors’ knowledge own more than 5% of the Company's share
capital) has any shareholding in the suppliers referred to above as at
31 March 2015.
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The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Chairman)

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (Managing Director)
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue

Ms. Chow Mun Yee

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun

Mr. Hung Cho Sing

Dr. Agustin V. Que

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Andrew Liu (resigned on 15 January 2015)
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston (resigned on 15 January 2015)

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company's Articles of
Association, Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei, Ms. Chow Mun Yee and Mr.
Chung Yuk Lun will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

At 31 March 2015, based on the register kept by the Company, the
interests of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued

Name of Directors Capacity shares held share capital

HE®ITRA

FEHA 5% FERMEE BAOBED

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue Beneficial owner 7,375,320 0.07%
R &+ EnlEEA

Ms. Chow Mun Yee Beneficial owner 6,048,000 0.06%

P/ ME BB A

The interests stated above represent the Directors’ interests in the
shares of the Company. Save as disclosed above and based on the
register kept by the Company, at 31 March 2015, none of the
Directors, chief executives nor their associates had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements headed
“Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures)
of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
directors, or their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had
any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2015, based on the register kept by the Company, the
following persons has interests or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
Company's issued share capital, as known to the Company or
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of SFO:
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Approximate
percentage

Number of of the issued

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity shares held share capital
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Andrew Liu (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,116,848,070 10.82%
Bt (M) EnlEAEA

Ou Yaping (Note 2) Beneficial owner 840,000,000 8.14%
B s (FgaE2) EnlEAEA

Willie International Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 703,159,470 6.81%
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B

=
af
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Note 1: These shares are held by Unitas Capital Strategic Partners | Limited
which is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Andrew Liu.

Note 2: These shares are held by Enerchine Securities Limited and Kenson
Investment Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of Enerchina
Holdings Limited (“Enerchina”), whereas Asia Pacific Promotion
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mr. Ou Yaping) has
approximately 36.40% equity interest in Enerchina.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER FERRERH M A L7 B 7 5 HHEH
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND Rz &)

UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by the B EXFIHEBEEINARBEARGFE 2 Z LM
Company, the Company had not been notified by any persons who  Fi&{%| R—_ZE—RAFE=ZA=+—H ' AQRL
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares — FRIETA A TS R AR B RIEBELHD
of the Company at 31 March 2015 as recorded in the register FHHEAREZESNIPEENEI6CEATFEZE

required to be kept under Sections 336 of the SFO. Atz EEIAE -
CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT NON- BIAIERITEEZCHRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non- AAGEZEESUBIIFRTESRRIELTR
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence  BIZE313MEAMEH 2 FEBL HEHRE - KA QA
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers RAZEBIIFERHITEEHABILA L

all the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY % B B 3R

The emolument policy of the employees of the Company is set up by AAFIZEREFMEEIEARGEES ([E
the Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) on the basis of F&|)LEEZEZ ERNENGTE-EZZ
their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the ¥R BRRAFAS LERERECES
Directors are decided by the Board, who are authorised by the &ET WELRXLEAQNRZEEEE FAARR
shareholders in the annual general meeting, having regard to the  NAIELLEMIBEE - A AR B HRMBEIER S
Company's operating results, individual performance and {E&%#E) sT& 2 BHN B HRERMFE25 -
comparable market statistics. The Company has adopted a share

option scheme as an incentive, details of the scheme are set out in

note 25 to the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT ERALREBRE

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and  RIEARQRRIFMEZAHERMBEZEZMA  BA
within the knowledge of Directors, at least 25% of the Company’'s BREBH  ARALTZVEAEARAQFZBEITHRA
total issued share capital is held by the public as at the date of this  # % 225% °

report.

AUDITORS & By Em
A resolution will be submitted to the coming annual general meeting AR FEREERITZREBERAFAS HITH#
of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as auditors of B Z I K &A1 BT AR D B EAD 2R

the Company. EmR

On behalf of the Board REESFT

Freeman Financial Corporation Limited REEREREROA

Lo Kan Sun *E

Chairman EEH

Hong Kong, 29 June 2015 B ZE-—RFAAAZTNH

REERERBRAF




EY=x

To the shareholders of Freeman Financial Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Freeman
Financial Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
set out on pages 32 to 123, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2015, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

HRBEMERBERARZEBE
(REEHEEMA L ZHRLA])

TZBAE T EZTIHNEI2EEF 12382
RESRERERAR ([E27]) RENEA
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2015, and of their financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2015
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Consolidated Income Statement
meEW=ER

Year ended 31 March 2015 #Z=-F—AF=H=+—HI FZ

2015 2014
—E-FRF —ZT—NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 BT T BT T
REVENUE U &= 5 227,678
Cost of sales $HE AR (3,453)
Gross profit/(loss) EF(EE) 224,225
Other income and gains E b A R iz 5 3,197
Fair value gains on investments at fair ~ EiBBEIA A FED IR
value through profit or loss, net wEZ N TFERRFE 395,954
General and administrative expenses —MEITHAX (35,405)
Other expenses, net Hpth i 2 F 58 (2,011)
Finance costs & AR 7 (7,685)
Share of profits and losses of an oG — A E QR R —E
associate and a joint venture EERNARMNREE (98,193)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R A1 ) Al 6 480,082
Income tax expense 8w X 10 (2,746)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 477,336
Attributable to: TE AL
Owners of the Company KATHEB A 477,336
Non-controlling interests SEFERR R -
477,336
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AR BZEREIZEA 11
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EBESRER
OF THE COMPANY
(Restated)
(4EEZI)

Basic and diluted HA K #E B HEHK6.01 centsill
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REEEBARE

Year ended 31 March 2015 B ZE-—F—AF=A=+—HIFZ

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income to be
reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:

Available-for-sale investments:
Change in fair values

Share of other comprehensive
income of an associate and
a joint venture, net

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

2015 2014
—E-AF —ZET—4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M aE BET T BT T
REEER 477,336
Hap2mW A
BRBER AR ES
DEEBTZ
Hib2mEURA
AHHERE: 15
NEEED 16,521
DME—EBE QR &
—MEERRZ
EqEmik A FRE 2,179
RKEEFEHMEZEBA
(BRFLE) 18,700
AEEZEWRALE
496,036
THIALTFE(L:
KABER A 496,036
JEIE R _
496,036

REERERBRLT I




34

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A M BRI |E

31 March 2015 —F—AF=H=4+—H

Notes
M aE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment W BE R 12
Investment in an associate and R—EEE QAR

a joint venture —MEERFZIEE 14
Intangible assets BILEE 13
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE 15
Loans receivable B E 5k 16
Deferred tax assets RERIBE E 23
Total non-current assets IERBEELE
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Accounts receivable JE Uk BR 5k 17
Loans receivable e E 3k 16
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTRIE e R EAM

receivables FE U SR I8 18
Investments at fair value through profit & 3@ 1825 A A FES B

or loss A 19
Tax recoverable &
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTHES 20
Total current assets REEERLE
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBEE
Accounts payable FEATBR 3K 21
Other payables and accruals Hth f& 508 R 5B A
Interest-bearing other borrowings ATEEMEE 22
Tax payable FERT B IR
Total current liabilities mEAGEEE
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBERE

LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FREBBE
Deferred tax liability RERIEAE 23
Net assets BEFE

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

2015
—E-REF
HK$'000
BT T

2014
—ET-EF
HK$'000
BT T

2,716

1,006,729
339
18,507
748

99

1,029,138

193,449
301,792

1,483
1,836,599

57,160

2,390,483

363
3,539
208,731
2,771

215,404

2,175,079

3,204,217

3,204,217




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A MR MOR xR

31 March 2015 —F—AF=HA=4+—H

2015 2014
—E-—FEF —E—NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 BT T BT T
EQUITY S
Equity attributable to owners of the Z&R2Q F#EHE ABIHER
Company
Issued capital EEITRA 24 3,441
Reserves ] 26 3,200,776
3,204,217
Non-controlling interests RS -
Total equity EmBE 3,204,217
Lo Kan Sun Chow Mun Yee
EE PR
Director Director
EoE EF

REERERABRLT B




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERREEX

Year ended 31 March 2015 B Z2=F—AF=A=+—HI F&E
Attributable to owners of the Company
ADAREARL
Available-
for-sale
Share Share Capital investment  Exchange Non-

Issued premium option  redemption Distributable Special  revaluation  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account resrve reserve reserve reserve’ reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

bl

qft tERE AE

BRARF  ROEER BREGR EAROEE  DNEE  GRER EMBE  REEE REM & FERER  EEEE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000
it AT BETT B%TR B%Tn RRTR A%Tn BRTR A%TR BMTR A%Tm BMTn BETR

At 1 April 2013 R-F-Z%MmA-H 2,07 1,448,751 - 485 824,887 35131 6,037 - 142,614 2,499,922 - 249992
Profit for the year FEREH - - - - - - - - 3k 417,3% -3
Other comprehensive incomel{oss) for the year: ~~ REEEW2ERA/
(B8):
An avalable-for-sale investment: THEERE: 15
Change in fair values LTERY - - - - - - 16,521 - - 16,521 - 16,521
Share of other comprehensive income AE-RBERTRMEE
of an associate, net WASE - - - - - - 395 (1,773) - 21719 - 2179
Total comprehensive income(los) for the year FERRENN/ (BR)EE - - - - - - 20473 0 436 496,036 - 4903
Equity-setled share option arrangements NEREERRE 2R - - 547 - - - - - - 547 - 547
Evercise of share options fk#RE 2(a), 25 3677 5253 (547) - - - - - - 8383 - 8383
Isue of new shares Bfiikh 24b) 2676 416719 - - - - - - - 4355 - 1435
Capital reorganisation RAES 24(0) (46,841) - - - 46,841 - - - - - - -
Rights issue ik 2d) 1912 160,598 - - - - - - - 162,510 - 162,510
Share issue expenses ORI - (7,536) - - - - - - - (7,536) - (7,536)
At 31 March 2014 RZE-BE=A=1-H 3441 1,648,745+ - 485* 871,728 35,131 26,510% (1773 619,950+ 3204217 - 3047
At 1 April 2014 R=F-REMA-R 344 1,648,745 - 485 871,728 35,131 26,510 (11m3) 619,950 3204217 - 3204217
Profitoss) for the year FERER/ (BE) - - - - - - - - 533,025 533005 (11345¢) 419571
Other comprehensive incomef{oss) for the year: ~~ AEEEMHZELA/
(E8):
Available-for-ale investments: THHERE: 15
Change in far values AVEED - - - - - - 5,642 - - 5,64 (147) 5,495
Share of other comprehensive income of AE-FRERIR
an associate and a joint venture, net AED TZM?E
WABE - - - - - - 2,695 (2,002) - 693 - 693
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year FER2EKN/ (BIB)8E - - - - - - 8337 (2,002) 533,005 539360 (113601) 425759
Deemed disposals of partal nterests in subsidiaries  EfEHEHBAT AR - - - - 021 - (8,840) - - (89051 170151 1.431,100
Issues of bonus shares EEU 2Ufe) 6,883 - - - - - - - (6,883) - - -
A3 March 2015 KoZ-EFZAzt-8 034 1648750 - g SIS BB 6007 BT LME0 34456 16650 5061006

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * L EREERREAMBRABRAZEERE
HK$3,444,202,000 (2014: HK$3,200,776,000) in the consolidated # A #3,444,202,0000 (ZF — W& : B
statement of financial position. 3,200,776,0007T) °

# The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the — # AEEFRREHEEAEENERARZREAR

aggregate amount of the share capital and share premium account of a B mERZBEERRAAR—NAN_FRIE
company which was the former holding company of the Group and the SEEEMBETRD 2 EBEZERE.

nominal value of the Company’s shares issued pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1992.

36 FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
REBRERER

Year ended 31 March 2015 B ZE-—F—AF=A=+—HIFZ

Notes
Bt 5
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING EETHMEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 56 A 4 A1
Adjustments for: BLATIEE fEE A% -
Finance costs A& KA 7
Share of profits and losses of an DE—EBE AR R —H
associate and a joint venture GE AR ZRMNKEER
Interest income FMEWA
Depreciation weE 6
Fair value gains on investments at ERBEARATFEIEZ
fair value through profit or loss, BE AT ERZFE
net
Gain on redemption of a note B ol e R IR 2 s
receivable 5
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries e B AR 2 M 5
Loss on changes in shareholding R E R E REEE
interests in an associate, net ZIEBEFE 6
Write-off of items of property, plant W= BEMEHEER
and equipment 6
Impairment of a loan receivable FE W & FORE 6

Equity-settled share option expense

Decrease/(increase) in accounts
receivable

Increase in loans receivable

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

Increase in investments at fair value
through profit or loss

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable

Increase/(decrease) in other payables
and accruals

Cash used in operations
Interest received
Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash flows used in operating
activities

DESHEBREZRAS 25

PR TR A (18 00)

& Y B R A

AN IR - e R E YR

R ()

FRBRNAFEIEZER

&4

FERT BRI, O )
H A JE A IR S JERT B AR

n Crid)

LEMARS
2 A B
EENEIIPSY

B FTSH

LERHAPHBCAERE

R

2015
—E-AF
HK$'000
BT T

RRERERER2T Y

2014
—ET-mEF
HK$'000
BT T

480,082
7,685
98,193
(26,816)
1,188

(395,954)

(77)
(57)

11
134

2,000
547

166,936

(40,351)
(293,137)

543

(60,613)
(11,490)

(622)

(238,734)
5,235
(4,495)
(2,879)

(240,873)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2015 #Z=-F—AF=H=+—HI FZ

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from redemption of a note
receivable

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Disposal of subsidiaries

Purchases of available-for-sale
investments

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from share options exercised

Proceeds from issue of new shares of
the Company

Proceeds from issue of new shares of a
subsidiary

Proceeds from rights issue

Share issue expenses

Drawdown of other borrowings

Repayment of other borrowings

Increase/(decrease) in margin loan
borrowings, net

Net cash flows from financing activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

REFZHMELEZRERE
NEWME - BE RE
BE RN EREZ TS 5R

WiE—HMEAR
HEMWB QA
BEAHHERE

REBRSFEE (FFBA)
ZHREREFRE

METDFEECRERE

TTE BB R 2 PS50 IR
BOTARBIBZ AEHA

BT M E QB Z AT
F 308

W2 P13 3R

B BEITHX
REOEMEES
BEEMEES
FREXREEZM CRD)
R

REBDMELEZRERE
R

RERBREEEMRDFHE

FU2RERBRELEFEY

FRZAERRESESEY

ReRASEEN2EHD
#r
e RRITHER

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

2015
—T-AF
Notes HK$'000
M aE BT T
12
28
29
24(a)
24(b)
24(d)

2014
—ET-EF
HK$'000
BT T

(153)

7,788

57

7,692

8,383

44,355

162,510
(7,536)
570,416
(606,690)

(61,691)

109,747

(123,434)

180,594

57,160

57,160




Freeman Financial Corporation Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at Room 2302,
23rd Floor, China United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point,

Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
financial services sector, including the provision of securities
and futures brokerage services, the provision of insurance
brokerage and financial planning services, the provision of
corporate finance advisory services, the trading of securities,
the provision of finance, as well as investment holding.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

RESMREBER AR A BRFESES
MR L2 BRRAG - ARRIZEEZE
MBI R E B A B B B85 FEiE 023
12302 o

FR AEEIBRESRREE  BRER
HEZEHERCRS  RBERERREL R
EHRERY  RECEBERERRS B
BEES RHEERIREERER-

FHEMELARZESR
AARMEEZMBAR ZFBHT:

follows:
Place of Issued
incorporation ordinary Percentage of equity Principal
Name and operations share capital attributable to the Company activities
ALK BB RARESM
£ EEBHY EBRAE A TEXK
Direct Indirect
¢ &
Ambition Union Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$20,000,000 - 60.5  Investment holding
Hong Kong
EHAERDA KBRIHS/BR 20,000,000% 7 REER
Eastern Sunny Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 60.5  Provision of
management services
RBERRA &k BT REERRY
Freeman Commodities Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$15,000,000 - 60.5  Provision of futures
("FCL", formerly known as brokerage services
HEC Commodities Limited)
RRAEERADA BB 7 #15,000,0007T REHEELRS
(TRREE] AIFE
mEHEERLDA)
Freeman Corporate Finance Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 60.5  Provision of corporate
Limited finance advisory
services
RELXREBRAF Bk 7 #200,0007T RUECEREBRRSE
Freeman Corporation Limited Cayman Islands/ Us$63 - 60.5  Investment holding
Hong Kong
REZRBBAA REHE /B 63%TT REER
Freeman Financial Investment Cayman Islands/ HK$48,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Corporation Hong Kong
Freeman Financial Investment ~ FI2EE /&% 75 #48,000,0007T RERR

Corporation



Place of Issued
incorporation ordinary Percentage of equity Principal
Name and operations share capital  attributable to the Company activities
MR K BRI NS
28 EEM EBRA BEEDH TEXK
Direct Indirect
E# %
Freeman Financial Services Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Limited
LeRBEBAERLAA e 7#%10,000,0007T REER
Freeman Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$408,000,000 - 60.5  Securities brokerage,
placing, underwriting,
margin financing,
investment holding
and trading of
securities
REEHBRAT BB 75 #408,000,0007T BAlR KE BH
FREE REZFRK
Freeman United Investments Hong Kong HK$ 1 - 60.5 Investment holding
Limited
Freeman United Investments e BEIT REER
Limited
Hansom Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 60.5  Provision of finance
BREFBEERLF 00 BT RERE
Harvest Financial Services Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 60.5  Provision of insurance
Limited brokerage services,
financial planning and
related services
SHEMRBERAR BB 75 #200,0007C RERRELRY 20
REINABERY
Smart Jump Corporation British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 60.5  Trading in securities
Hong Kong
Smart Jump Corporation KERZHE /BB (E BHEE

During the year, the Group acquired FCL from an associate of a
joint venture of the Group. Further details of this acquisition
are included in note 28 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

RAFE - AREAAKRE-RELAR 2 —H
BE N m RS - R WIBHE — S BEH
P RA 5 $R R M £ 28 o

FREJZARFANBRAREFAREAE
B AFREEETEFENBAASTEEE
FETEEARTDZHBAR -EERA Wk
HMB AR ZF B eEHRREN TR



These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for available-for-
sale investments and investments at fair value through profit or
loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2015.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

ZEMBRRDRBEBFB GG ([F
BEAE )R ZBBIERELER
(I1&RMBHREEL]) (EFREMEE
BMBREEL FEGHER ([FES
SREAD RRE) BEAREFRAR
BB R ARG 2 3T AR E T Am Lo BR Al K
HEREREBERADNTEIEZRE
S R FTIRIBE L AL R B - % T8
HERABERS MEBERERERAN EH
BEURAREREDZ TS

mERE
HAMBRREB/ARALENE QA
(B AKEBE-_F—1F=H
ST BUEFEZHBEHRR -WERRS
AABEEXEREG 2ER (BRRER
HEE) BAKEARAZTELERERE
NRE 2 ] B0 WwIA KB B IR E
REIZEND (AASERERE THREE A
TERREQNABBEES ZREEN)F
B2FERE - BIES G4 -

HARBEZRXAREERIRERR TR
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HeZE - UHBEERER 85

(a) HEFEWEAFEMEEEFEAZE
S

(b) HMENZHMEEZEN: &

(0 X%

JiE]

BB



The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described in the
accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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The Group has adopted the following revised standards and
new interpretation for the first time for the current year's
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financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
(2011)

Amendments to HKAS 32
Amendments to HKAS 39

HK(IFRIC)-Int 21

Investment Entities

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of
Hedge Accounting

Levies
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Amendment to HKFRS 2
included in Annual
Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle

Amendment to HKFRS 3
included in Annual
Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle

Amendment to HKFRS 13 Short-term Receivables and Payables
included in Annual
Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle

Amendment to HKFRS 1
included in Annual
Improvements 2011-2013
Cycle

Definition of Vesting Condition"

Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a
Business Combination’

Meaning of Effective HKFRSs

! Effective from 1 July 2014

Except for the amendment to HKFRS 1 which is only relevant to
an entity’s first HKFRS financial statements, the nature and the
impact of each amendment and interpretation is described
below:

(@) Amendments to HKFRS 10 include a definition of an
investment entity and provide an exception to the
consolidation requirement for entities that meet the
definition of an investment entity. Investment entities are
required to account for subsidiaries at fair value through
profit or loss rather than consolidate them. Consequential
amendments were made to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
(2011). The amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out the
disclosure requirements for investment entities. The
amendments have had no impact on the Group as the
Company does not qualify as an investment entity as
defined in HKFRS 10.
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The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of
“currently has a legally enforceable right to set off” for
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. The
amendments also clarify the application of the offsetting
criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement systems (such as central
clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement
mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The amendments
have had no impact on the Group as they are consistent
with the policies already adopted by the Group.

The HKAS 39 Amendments provide an exception to the
requirement of discontinuing hedge accounting in
situations where over-the-counter derivatives designated
in hedging relationships are directly or indirectly, novated
to a central counterparty as a consequence of laws or
regulations, or the introduction of laws or regulations. For
continuance of hedge accounting under this exception, all
of the following criteria must be met: (i) the novations
must arise as a consequence of laws or regulations, or the
introduction of laws or regulations; (ii) the parties to the
hedging instrument agree that one or more clearing
counterparties replace their original counterparty to
become the new counterparty to each of the parties; and
(iii) the novations do not result in changes to the terms of
the original derivative other than changes directly
attributable to the change in counterparty to achieve
clearing. The amendments have had no impact on the
Group as the Group has not novated any derivatives
during the current and prior years.

HK(FRIC)-Int 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a
liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment,
as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. The
interpretation also clarifies that a levy liability is accrued
progressively only if the activity that triggers payment
occurs over a period of time, in accordance with the
relevant legislation. For a levy that is triggered upon
reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies
that no liability should be recognised before the specified
minimum threshold is reached. The interpretation has had
no impact on the Group as the Group applied, in prior
years, the recognition principles under HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
which for the levies incurred by the Group are consistent
with the requirements of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21.
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The HKFRS 2 Amendment clarifies various issues relating
to the definitions of performance and service conditions
which are vesting conditions, including (i) a performance
condition must contain a service condition; (ii) a
performance target must be met while the counterparty is
rendering service; (iii) a performance target may relate to
the operations or activities of an entity, or to those of
another entity in the same group; (iv) a performance
condition may be a market or non-market condition; and
(v) if the counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to
provide service during the vesting period, the service
condition is not satisfied. The amendment has had no
impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 3 Amendment clarifies that contingent
consideration arrangements arising from a business
combination that are not classified as equity should be
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss
whether or not they fall within the scope of HKFRS 9 or
HKAS 39. The amendment has had no impact on the
Group.

The HKFRS 13 Amendment clarifies that short-term
receivables and payables with no stated interest rates can
be measured at invoice amounts when the effect of
discounting is immaterial. The amendment has had no
impact on the Group.

In addition, the Company has early adopted the amendments
to the Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
relating to the disclosure of financial information with
reference to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)
during the current financial year. The main impact to the
financial statements is on the presentation and disclosure of
certain information in the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
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these financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments* BEUMBREEANER LHTA

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an ERVBMEER REZHEAHLEH
and HKAS 28 (2011) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture® FI0RREAES =N AVNYT el

HRIFE285: (=F BELHERTE?
——F)2BF]

Amendments to HKFRS 10,  /nvestment Entities: Applying the Consolidation BEEMBWMERD REER EFAGF
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Exception? F105% BB ENICY =P
(2011) HFERNE125R N

BRI ERE28
K(ZE——F)2
5]

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisition of Interests in Joint BEREVBRERRNE UWESEEXGRED

Operations M3 255 B & E A

HKFRS 14 Requlatory Deferral Accounts® BEAVBRELENE EEELEKPS
1457

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers® BEUMBHRELRNE FLELHK
155%

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative? BEAGIEAUEINR HETI
ZAEET

Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of BERGFERE 6 BEMEREIEZ
and HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation? RBEBGHENE A B T A2

3855 Z & &]

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer Plants?

BREERTERE 165
REBGHEAR

BE AEMLEY

A5 2 1B FT
Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions' BB EUNEI19% EHEEFGGE - E
ZAEET BH#H
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements BEAGIEAUNE27TR BUUBHRXE
(2011) —E-—F)2E 2
]
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs' —EF—FFE_F ZIRB AV BRE
2010-2012 Cycle ——FHEBFRE ERZERD
i
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs' —EFE——FF_F ZIEBEUBRE
2011-2013 Cycle —ZFHABFE  ERZAEET
it
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs? —E——FR-F ZEABWBWRE
2012-2014 Cycle —EFERAFE  ERZEE]?
2t

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

! R-ZE-—NFLA-BRZERBZFE

BB A

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 2 RZE—RFE-—A—BR2ERRIFE
HAR AR

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 3 RIT—tF-—A—BR 2 ERBZFE
HAR A K

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 4 RZZE—)N\F—A—BdzEzREzFE

HiRE A 3

: HRZTB—RNF—A— Bz &RHGZH

> Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual
financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and MNFEVEREEBNRAE BT IERE
therefore is not applicable to the Group LRHHEBEZ AT ERAREAEER
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The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and revised HKFRSs would have a significant impact on its
financial statements.

Investments in an associate and a joint venture

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investment in an associate and a joint venture is
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of the associate and the joint venture is
included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in
the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investment in the associate or joint venture, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associate or joint venture is included as part of the Group’s
investment in the associates or joint ventures.
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Investments in an associate and a joint venture
(Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or join control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognised any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of HKAS 39 is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the
contingent consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it
is measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interest and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its available-for-sale investments and
equity investments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:
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Fair value measurement (Continued)

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
income statement in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the income statement in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);
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Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 15%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%

Computer equipment 333%

Leasehold improvements
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Trading rights

Trading rights represent the eligibility rights to trade on or
through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and The Hong Kong Futures Exchange with
indefinite useful lives. They are carried at cost less any
impairment losses.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as
operating leases. Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.
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Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recorded
at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the income statement.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the
host contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading
or designated as at fair value through profit or loss. These
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in the income statement. Reassessment
only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset
out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the income statement. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the income statement.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the income statement in other income,
or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to the income statement.
Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-
sale financial investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the income
statement in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the
range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating
fair value, such investments are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its
available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets for
the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale
category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the income statement.
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in the income statement. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in the income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an ungquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in the income statement,
is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised
in the income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the
investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the
fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the income statement — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the income
statement. Increases in their fair value after impairment are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as
to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the income statement.
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Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and
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Income tax (Continued)

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) income from the sale of equity and debt securities, on a
trade-date basis;

(b) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset;
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
(d) insurance brokerage income, on the inception of the
associated insurance policy;

(e) corporate finance advisory income, when the relevant
service has been rendered;

(f)  commission and brokerage income from securities and
futures dealings, on a trade-date basis; and

(g) underwriting and placing commission income, when the
relevant service has been rendered.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible participants
(including the Company’s directors and other employees of the
Group and of the investee entities, and any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business partners of any member of
the Group or any investee entity), who render services and/or
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) and advisors of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees/advisors render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model. In
valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the
price of the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if
applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the services received
at the date they are received. Where the market information
for the services provided by non-employees cannot be reliably
determined, the fair value of the share options granted at the
date when the services are received is applied as a surrogate
measure. In this case, the fair value of the share options is
determined by external valuers using a binomial model.
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Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in
employee benefit expenses. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the income statement for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised
as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employees/advisors as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Employee benefits

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Share-based payments”
above.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
the income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when
the employee leaves employment prior to the contributions
vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the income
statement.
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POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of loans receivable

The Group maintains an allowance for the estimated loss
arising from the inability of its borrowers to make the required
payments. The Group makes its estimates based on the aging
of its loans receivable balances, borrowers’ creditworthiness
and historical write-off experience. If the financial condition of
its borrowers was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment
loss might be higher than expected, the Group would be
required to revise the basis of making the allowance and its
future results would be affected.

Impairment of accounts receivable

The provision for impairment of accounts receivable of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectibility and the aging
analysis of the receivables and on the judgement of
management. A considerable amount of judgement is required
in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of the customers. Management reassesses the
estimation regularly throughout the reporting period.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets
The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale and
recognises movements of their fair values in equity. When the
fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the
decline in value to determine whether there is an impairment
that should be recognised in the income statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets including investment in an
associate and a joint venture are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of

those cash flows.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Measurement of unlisted investments at fair value

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market are estimated by management based on the
valuation performed by independent qualified valuers by using
valuation techniques that require various sources of
information and assumptions. The carrying amount of the
Group’s unlisted investment at fair value through profit or loss
as at 31 March 2015 was approximately HK$84,519,000 (2014:
Nil). The Group also had an unlisted available-for-sale
investment stated at fair value with a carrying amount of
HK$52,000,000 (2014: Nil) as at 31 March 2015. Further
details are given in notes 15 and 19 to these financial
statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The amount of unrecognised tax
losses at 31 March 2015 was HK$1,365,945,000 (2014:
HK$850,936,000). Further details are contained in note 23 to
these financial statements.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) the trading of securities segment engages in the purchase
and sale of securities and securities investment;

(b)  the provision of finance segment engages in the provision
of financing services in Hong Kong;

(c)  the insurance brokerage business segment engages in the
insurance brokerage business and the provision of
financial planning and related services;
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(d) securities and futures brokerage, placing, underwriting
and margin financing in Hong Kong;

(e) the investment holding segment engages in holding
investments for continuing strategic or long term
purposes, primarily for their dividend income and capital
appreciation; and

(f)  the corporate finance advisory segment engages in the
provision of corporate finance advisory services and
related activities.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax.
The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently
with the Group's profit before tax except that bank and other
interest income (excluding interest income from provision of
finance and margin financing activities), finance costs as well as
head office and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment transactions are made with reference to the
prices used for services made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. EERWEH o)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2015/As at 31 March 2015 BE-Z-RAF=HA=+—-HLEE R
—E-RF=A=+—H
Securities
and futures
brokerage,
placing,
Insurance underwriting Corporate
Trading of ~ Provision of  brokerage ~and margin  Investment finance
securities finance business  financing holding advisory Total
B5R
REEE RE -BER b¥pE
#HEE  RiRE £%  HERE  REEZR BE a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
AT ERTrn A% BT BRTr B¥Tn BETn
Segment revenue: AEbE:
Sales to external customers G PEP 2 EE
Intersegment sales PEREE
Reconciliation; HE:
Elimination of intersegment sales PEREEYH
Total revenue lgnsy:
Segment results PE$E
Reconciliation: HE:
Bank interest income FAMEHA
Other interest income ApHEHA
Corporate and other unallocated expenses AR RE#KSEHF
Finance costs HERR
Profit before tax REAE
Other segment information: HtAEER:
Share of profits and losses of an associate ~ AE—HEERAR-HAERE
and a joint venture AHRER
Depreciation ik
- operating segment -BENE
- unallocated vl
Investment in a joint venture R-HaBRARE
Capital expenditure ERRX
- operating segment -BEnE
- unallocated -FKAR
* Capital expenditure represented additions to property, plant and * BEEARAZERRNEYZE BB KM KRS
equipment and intangible assets including assets from the FEE BFERGUWE—HIBARZE
acquisition of a subsidiary. Ee
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(Continued)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Year ended 31 March 2014/As at 31 March 2014

Notes to Financial Statements

BEYBREH #)

Bt 35 SRR MY RE

31 March 2015 —ZE—A#=H=+—H

BE-_Z-NE=B=+—HILEE R

—E-WE=ZA=+—H

Securities
brokerage,
placing,
Insurance  underwriting Corporate
Trading of ~ Provisionof ~ brokerage  and margin  Investment finance
securities finance business ~ financing holding advisory Total
Fopr
RBELE BE-BER hEBE
B5EE  REBE 5B HEHE  RERR B 4%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AU BETrn  RETr  A%Tn BT BETr BT
Segment revenue: AR
Sales to external customers gNBERZEE 164,290 9392 4,380 46,686 - 290 27678
Intersegment sales HEREE - - - - - - -
164,290 9392 4,380 46,686 - 2,930 227,678
Reconciliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment sales NEREEHH -
Total revenue st 227,678
Segment results TEER 560,071 2,126 875 41613 (102,257) 2,897 505,925
Reconciliation: HE
Bank interest income RITFSHA 11
Other interest income HfpFI B MA 1,201
Corporate and other unallocated expenses ~ RAREHAAHERT (19,370)
Finance costs BARE (7,685)
Profit before tax BRATEH 480,082
Other segment information: EtaEER:
Share of profits and losses of an associate AMi-HEELIRHREE - - - - (98,193) - (98,193)
Depreciation i
- operating segment ~REANE - - - (366) - - (366)
- unallocated -FAE (822)
(1,188)
Investment in an associate R-RBERFAZRE - - - - 1,006,729 - 1,006,729
Capital expenditure EARY
- operating segment -gEn8 - - - 65 - - 65
- unallocated -RAR 88
153*
* Capital expenditure represented additions to property, plant and * BEARTIEABYME BEREE-
equipment.

RREREREBRLT WS
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31 March 2015 —F—AF=H=4+—H

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Geographical information

(@ The Group's revenue is derived from its external
customers in Hong Kong.

(b)  Non-current assets

4. EESEEH »)

B &R

(@) AKBEZWRFZREEBFBINGES

(b) FRBEE

2015 2014
—E-hfF —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETIT

Hong Kong BB

The non-current asset information above is based on the
location of assets and excludes financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Included in revenue arising from major customers which
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group's revenue for
the year:

1,009,784

L SERBE EE R AE E TN R IK
B EPUIAERERTAMEERESR
EO

THEIEEFNEN
BREEXRBIZERFPZWE &HAKH
AFEEREBEHI0% :

2015 2014
—E—EHF —T-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETIT

Securities brokerage, placing, underwriting and FE5&L BRE 2K

margin financing FERE
Customer A EEA
Insurance brokerage business RS E
Customer B %78

The Group's dividend income and gains/(losses) from the sale
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are excluded
from total revenue for the purpose of identifying major
customers of the Group who accounted for over 10% of the
Group's revenue.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

13,125

AEERSBARKEHEEBBRNUR
FEIRZKRE 2 W, (BE) Tt AR
Was BUABBAKEZETERF  HIEX
SEKEHEBI0% °



REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents interest income earned from provision of
finance; dividend income from investments at fair value
through profit or loss; net gains/(losses) from the sale of
investments at fair value through profit or loss; insurance
brokerage income; corporate finance advisory fee; commission
and brokerage income from securities dealings; commission

Notes to Financial Statements

B H RN

31 March 2015 —F—AF=HA=4+—H

5. i HUkARKD
WEIEFRREBRENEG ZFBRA B
BEHEURTEIIEZRE BN
HE BB U A TEYIEZRE 2 s
J(BR)FE: RBRELEA RERE
BRE: BAEEASRELEA B8R
RERBAS URFRBERB 2L

from underwriting and placing services; and interest income on WA o
margin financing activities during the year.
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: Was s E A R e 2 o mmT :
2015 2014
—E-AfF —T-mEF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
{i=g BT T BT T
Revenue 2=
Interest income from provision of R E SR EHA
finance 9,392
Dividend income from investments at ~ BBEBHARAFEIIRZIEE
fair value through profit or loss Z B A 56,869
Gains/(losses) from the sale of HEFBEZSURATFEIERZ
investments at fair value through BEZ W= (BER)FE
profit or loss, net (note) (K15E) 107,421
Insurance brokerage income PR B AS 40 W A 4,380
Corporate finance advisory fee TrEREERE 2,930
Commission and brokerage income BFHEEME RELBA
from securities dealings 3,117
Commission from underwriting and B EEERE RS
placing services 27,357
Interest income on margin financing FRBE RS 2 FEMWA
activities 16,212
227,678
Other income and gains HabWg A R Wz
Bank interest income RITALB WA 11
Other interest income EH A2 WA 1,201
Dividend handling charge and other R ERRIEE & E MK ME
surcharges 568
Gain on redemption of a note FEE R EE 2 s
receivable 77
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWNB QA Z WS 29 57
Others E i 1,283
3,197
Note: The gross proceeds from the sale of investments at fair value W FRNEEEBBRARATEINRZIEE

through profit or loss for the year were approximately
HK$592,101,000 (2014: HK$422,395,000).

FriS s BB H A B ¥592,101,0007T
(—Z—PU4 : #%422,395,0007T) °

RRERERERAF
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2014
—E—F
HK$'000
BT T

1,188

5,297

192

5,489

2,430

7,411
547

134

11
(57)

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRIRAIAF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBZBRBADRFE MR (FFA) -
(crediting):
2015
—E-—FHEF
Notes HK$'000
Bt BET T
Depreciation e 12
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EEBAFEX (TRIEES
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): Bi< (MI3E8) ) -
Salaries and allowances e KoRRL
Retirement benefit scheme RABMTEHR (ERE
contributions (defined contribution MG E)
scheme)*
Auditors’ remuneration Z B &
Minimum lease payments under BBLEHELN 2 HEBEFIE
operating leases
Equity-settled share option expense N A E 2 BIRER X 25
Write-off of items of property, plant MEEmE - BB RREEE
and equipment
Loss on changes in shareholding R—EEE AR RESS 2
interests in an associate, net** EtEF R 14
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries k=00 N 29
Impairment of a loan receivable** JE W B BB A * 16

* At 31 March 2015, the Group had no material forfeited
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
retirement benefit scheme in future years (2014: Nil).

**  These balances are included in "“Other expenses, net” in the
consolidated income statement.

7. FINANCE COSTS 7.

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

* %

2,000

W-ZE-—RAF=A=+—H AEELE
BERZWERA BB D ERKBFZR
REEFFBER (T —EOF |) -

REEBRTIFI AR E RS R Z [HEMBH

SOFREI N

MENF
BAMADSFIT :

2015
—E-REF
HK$'000
BT T

Interests on other loans wholly repayable within R AFERHIZERBRHEEZ

five years or on demand HibEHRZF B

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

2014
—E—NF
HK$'000
BT T

7,685
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31 March 2015 —Z—HE=A=+—H

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EXE&
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the THRIRE TR REERRGRIE
Listing Rules and sections 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong 383(1)(a)* (b) * () R (&4 58 2 F 1N & =5 Bi

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: ®:

2015 2014
—E-AfF —ZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

Fees Fikia 874
Other emoluments: H A B -
Salaries and other benefits FekEMETF 4,765
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFIET B
(defined contribution scheme) (FEEMtZETED) 114
4,879
5,753
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BUKHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FAENBYIIFRTES RSN
during the year were as follows: ™
2015 2014
—E-RE —ET—F
Fees Fees
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping* REEF o+ 78
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun* EE ML 78
Mr. Hung Cho Sing BEE A 240
Dr. Agustin V. Que Agustin V. Quel# 4 120
Mr. Gary Drew Douglas** Gary Drew Douglast & ** 34
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam** Peter Temple Whitelam 4 4 * * 42
Mr. Frank H. Miu** B Er~ 42
634
There were no other emoluments payable to the FAWMENEIIIERNTES 2 EMMMe
independent non-executive directors during the year (ZE—mF:m|) o
(2014: Nil).

REEMEREBRDT
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

8. EEM& »

(b) BITEERFUITES

Retirement
Salaries and benefit
other scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions remuneration
ek BIKEF
we HnigF sHEMERX emsE
2015 —E-8fF HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT BET T BET T
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Lo Kan Sun ERHILAE
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei FFER LA
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue FOREZ
Ms. Chow Mun Yee 2= Ny |
Non-executive directors: IEMITES:
Mr. Andrew Liu B fm T E
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston* BaiEr
Retirement
Salaries and benefit
other scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions  remuneration
ek BRREF
ok H i 48 F FHEIE R HewE
2014 —ZT-mF HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BB T BT BETFT
Executive directors: WITES
Mr. Lo Kan Sun EEHLAE - 1,008 50 1,058
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei  #FERRL A - 2,095 15 2,110
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue R EZ + - 678 34 712
Ms. Chow Mun Yee RN E - 984 15 999
- 4,765 114 4,879
Non-executive directors: FEHITES:
Mr. Andrew Liu* BB fm okt 120 - - 120
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston* BaemEiit 120 - - 120
240 - - 240
240 4,765 114 5,119

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED



8.

10.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (cContinued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors
(Continued)

* Appointed during the year ended 31 March 2014

**  Resigned during the year ended 31 March 2014

# Resigned during the year ended 31 March 2015

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2014: Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
(2014: four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of remaining one (2014: one) highest paid employee who is
not a director of the Company is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 35 SRR MY RE

31 March 2015 —F—AF=HA=4+—H

EFile =)
(b) BTEERFHUTES (&)

* RBEE-_ZT-NF=A=+—A1
FREEZME

= RBEZZE-HF=A=t—HL
FEBE

# RBE-Z-—AF=A=+—HI
FEBE

FAAERRESNEXFEB R
ST (ZT—HF &) -

IifumEEHER
FARUGREHFEELENUG(ZF—N
FoO)EE A FBHN E XM=
8 FNEH T —fL (ZT—MF: —fiz) W3k
ARRBEEzEeFREEZHEFBEN
T

e R H A AE T
BARFT B

Salaries and other benefits
Pension scheme contributions

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2014: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year.

2015 2014
—ZT-AF —TMmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
381

14

395

-FRIRRAX

EEMBRIRHE16.5% (—ZF— N
F:16.5% ) MFEARBBELE ZEFHER
T s M T ER B A

Current — Hong Kong RE—FH
Charge for the year REEZH
Overprovision in prior years BEFEREREE
Deferred (note 23) AT (P 5E23)
Total tax charge for the year REFEHIAX B AT

2015 2014
—ZF-AF —TmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
2,800

(2)

(52)

2,746

RRERERERLE




A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax charge at
the Group's effective tax rate is as follows:

T BB BRER KRB Z BB AR )
ERZRERBAAEEBERRXAE
ZRIES 2 Bk

2015 2014
—E-48F —E-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit before tax B 750 A g A 462,387 480,082
Tax charge at the Hong Kong statutory E&BEEMRE16.5%TE 2
tax rate of 16.5% HIAE H 76,294 79,214
Adjustments in respect of current tax of st ATHARM 2 BNERFE 1B 2 #9%
previous periods (384) (2)
Income not subject to tax BER 2 WA (13,967) (9,709)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A 457 437
Temporary differences not recognised KR 2 L5 =458 61 62
Tax losses utilised from previous periods Z) BT HfM 2 #%5E 18 (40,301) (84,923)
Tax losses not recognised ﬂiﬁﬁﬁ%\ZﬁﬁKEﬂE 19,742 1,465
Tax effect of share of results of an AME—HEBE AR R —HEERREA
associate and a joint venture B E 914 16,202
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax I AE B 2 B £L9.26%
rate of 9.26% (2014: 0.57%) —ENF:057% ) EZHESTH 42,816 2,746

The share of tax attributable to an associate amounting to
HK$6,307,000 (2014: HK$273,000) is included in “'Share of
profits and losses of an associate and a joint venture” in the
consolidated income statement.

There is no share of tax attributable to an joint venture during
the year ended 31 March 2015.

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of HK$533,025,000
(2014: HK$477,336,000), and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 10,324,137,300 (2014:
7,938,941,490, as restated) in issue during the year. The
basic earnings per share amount for the year ended 31
March 2014 has been adjusted to reflect the issues of
bonus shares and share subdivision during the year ended
31 March 2015.

Diluted earnings per share
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014.

oE—EEE AR 218 AB 16,307,000
JC( —Z— U4 - E#273,00000) - EBHE
iralamRke (o —HBER AT R —
Med alafkBiE]l ne

HE_Z-—AF=A=+T—HILEFEITE
JEIE A E R RIBIA

(a) SREAEFR
BRERBF ST IR AR R LB
EHBANEGEARTFE MBS E
533,025,0007C (ZZ — & : B
477,336,0007T) A M FRN B 37T E
B2 DA 15 8010,324,137,3000%

— PO 4F:7,938,941,4900% (£
B )itE-HE-_ZT—MNE=Z A
=t BUIFEZERERBTEHE
EEHAE  URMEBEZE T —AF
AT ALEFEZARETRE
i

(b) ERBERF
HE-_Z2—AFk-_Z—NF=HA
=t HEFE - AEBRTEBTA
B EwE 2 LBk
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31 March 2015 —ZF—#H#E=HA=+—H
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 9% - BEREH
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Computer
improvements equipment equipment Total
HEWME  HBR-KE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000

BET T BET T BET T BET T

31 March 2015 —E—-FRHEF
=B=+-—H
At 31 March 2014 and at RZZ—m4F
1 April 2014: —A=+—HEFK
—T 4
mA—A:
Cost (BN

Accumulated depreciation  RitITE

Net carrying amount FREDHE
At 1 April 2014, net of RZZE—MF
accumulated depreciation MmA—A -k
2tiE
Additions NE
Write-off 1 85
Depreciation provided during @R Z T E & E
the year

At 31 March 2015, net of RZZE—RF

accumulated depreciation =RA=+—8"
Mk 258
At 31 March 2015: R-ZZE—RHF=A
=+—8:
Cost B

Accumulated depreciation R iE

Net carrying amount REDEE

REFEERERBRLT RY
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31 March 2015 —ZZFE—a%#=H=+—H
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 9% BERERE &)
(Continued)
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Computer
improvements equipment equipment Total
HEME i KE
®i SETE BB 4azR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETF T BEF T BT T
31 March 2014 —E-MmEF
=A=+—H
At 1 April 2013: RZE—=%F
MA—A:
Cost BN 904 5,144 1,468 7,516
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (249) (2,235) (1,147) (3,631)
Net carrying amount BREFE 655 2,909 321 3,885
At 1 April 2013, net of RZE—=%F
accumulated depreciation MmA—H"
HERFIE 655 2,909 321 3,885
Additions = - 57 96 153
Write-off T 84 (131) ) (2) (134)
Depreciation provided during 4 A 2 37 & B &
the year (267) (717) (204) (1,188)
At 31 March 2014, net of RZZE—MMF
accumulated depreciation —A=+—8"
ks Rt & 257 2,248 211 2,716
At 31 March 2014: R_T—MF
=A=+—H:
Cost DN 714 5,200 1,558 7,472
Accumulated depreciation REIE (457) (2,952) (1,347) (4,756)
Net carrying amount RHEFE 257 2,248 211 2,716
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14.

Notes to Financial Statements

7 3R 2R Y &
31 March 2015 —ZE—#A%#=H=+—H
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. L EE
Trading rights R
HK$'000
BT T
Cost at 1 April 2013, at 31 March 2014 and R-_ZE—=%#mMWA—H"
at 1 April 2014 —E-NFE=ZA=+—H
MZZF—MNFMA—HZRA 339
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28) Wi — R B AR (MIFE28) 1,397
Cost at 31 March 2015 R-CE—RAFZA=ZFT—HZEA 1,736

The trading rights have been considered to have indefinite lives
because they are expected to contribute to the net cash flows

RPZBEEERBERERFH AREY
HAKEZFREREZERMLERF -

of the Group indefinitely, and are not amortised. U I o
INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE AND A 14. R—HBEATR—RAEEL
JOINT VENTURE BZiRE
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZE—-mF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Share of net assets of: DB EFE:
An associate — A B & A A 1,006,729
A joint venture —fAaERna -
1,006,729
Particulars of the associate of the Group at 31 March 2014 are RZE—NF=ZA=+—H AEEHE
as follows: NEIZFHBEWT :
Percentage of
ownership
Particulars of Place of interest
issued shares incorporation  attributable
Name held and business to the Group Principal activities
BFEE#T AL K AEBEEERA
=g A= EE 31 BREEIL TEXH
HEC Capital Ordinary share of ~ Cayman 19.54 Investment holding, property investment,
Limited HK$0.10 each Islands/ commodities dealer, money lending, nominees,
("HEC") Hong Kong securities brokerage and financial services,
corporate finance advisory services, asset
management, investment advisory and fund
management
HEC Capital BREELE Hers &8 REZR MERE BORXH BEXEBK RE
Limited 0.107C 2 & B A BREERRERY CEREBRERE &
(THEC ) EEE REBRRESER

REEREREBRLT R




Particulars of the joint venture of the Group at 31 March 2015

are as follows:

R-_E—RE=ZA=+—H0 AXEEzE
ERAIFBEOT:

Percentage of

UTREZBDL
Place of
Particulars of incorporation Ownership Voting Profit
Name issued shares held  and business interest power sharing  Principal activity
e BT B R BEA
A7 R EXE s RERE  ENIR TEEXH
Freewill Holdings ~ Ordinary share of Republic of Marshall 65.30 50.00 65.30  Investment holding
Limited HK$1 each Islands/Hong Kong
("Freewill")
Freewill Holdings BREE#EK 1Tz SHABESENE/ RERR
Limited Lk B0
(TFreewill )

The above investment in an associate and a joint venture is
indirectly held by the Company. HEC is a strategic partner of the
Group engaged in investment holding, property investment,
commodities dealer, money lending, nominees, securities
brokerage and financial services, corporate finance advisory
services, asset management, investment advisory and fund
management businesses. Freewill is an investment holding
company, which held an approximately 29.08% equity interest in
HEC as at 31 March 2015. The investment in an associate and a
joint venture has been accounted for using the equity method in
these financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, 1,500,000 new
ordinary shares of HEC were issued to an existing shareholder
of HEC, and the Group’s shareholding interest in HEC was then
diluted to approximately 19.54% as at 31 March 2014. A net
loss of approximately HK$11,000 was resulted from the change
in shareholding interest in HEC during the year ended 31
March 2014.

PR —EEEA AR —HeE AR K
ERARNRBERFTF - HECAAEBR 2K
BB RERETER MELE - BFRR
P BEREBH REA BHELLRBER
B EREREMRYE - BEEE -KER
M RESEIEZER  Freewill B — R E R
BAR W-E—RAF=-—A=+—H#EA
HEC#929.08% i - R E NAl LA E R
AR EBEEZEM B REPUEREA
E\-Eo

HE_Z-—NF=A=+—HILEE"
1,500,000 HEC T & i IR E 5217 T HEC—
BB RE  ANEEMNHEC Z f%#E R It 1
BEz_ZT-NF=-A=+—8%
19.54% - HE-_ZT—NF=A=+—HI
FE - RHECZREESBBHEERFEY
7B #11,0007T °



On 12 June 2014, 38,000,000 new ordinary shares of HEC
were issued to an existing shareholder of HEC, and the Group's
shareholding interest in HEC was then diluted to approximately
18.74%. A net loss of approximately HK$1,068,000 was
resulted from the change in the shareholding interest in HEC
during the year and this amount was recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March
2015. Although the Group’s shareholding interest in HEC
remained below the presumed range of voting power of 20%
under HKAS 28 (2011) /nvestments in Associates and Joint
Ventures, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the
Group’s ability to exercise significant influence over HEC has
not been changed considering, inter alia, the Group's ability to
exercise significant influence, through its ability to exercise
voting power, at the meetings of shareholders and the board of
directors of HEC.

On 20 June 2014, the Group entered into a joint venture
agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of Willie
International Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange (“Willie’s subsidiary”) and
Freewill, pursuant to which the Group and Willie’s subsidiary
agreed to contribute or procure the contribution of their
respective holdings of issued shares of HEC to Freewill in
exchange for the same amount of new shares to be allotted
and issued by Freewill (the “JV Contribution”). Further details
of the JV Contribution were disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 20 June 2014.

Upon completion of the JV Contribution in June 2014, all
shares of HEC previously held by the Group were transferred to
Freewill, the investment in an associate was derecognised and
the investment in Freewill was recognised as an investment in a
joint venture on the same date.

Despite the Group's holding of a 65.30% interest in Freewill,
the Group and Willie's subsidiary agreed that relevant activities
of Freewill require unanimous consent of the shareholders.
Accordingly, the Directors of the Company consider that it is
appropriate to account for the Group's interest in Freewill as a
joint venture since the completion date of the JV Contribution.

R=ZZF—WF/xHF+=H" 38,000,000
HECHT L BRERT THEC— R AM/RE
REBRHECZ RERLH#EE D
18.74%  FRMHEC Z IR & FhE HEIE
SEEB A H1,068,0007T 2 EENEE
E-RAE=ZA=+—HILEENGEAKARE
KER - BEAEERHECZ BEDRIE
REBGHERFE285 (T ——F ) KRG
ERNEIREELNAIZHKERTEZ R ERESR
E20% fEEZE (EPaF) AEER
HECRR A g hESEe SR LABITER
EEBRBEATEN G ARREERAE
NEEREMHITHHECRIBEE AT E H -

R-ZZE—NENAZ+H NEEEEF
BRRIER AR AR (ERMOAERZETER
Em)z2ERBRAR ([HFAHEBAR])
KFreewilliTY. — 0 & & B A%
EHEEFMNEB AR RERSBMFHECE
BT 9 )E A SR JE AFreewill - LA 38
Freewill i T Ac 8 K& 217 2 MR £ B AR5
([EERANEE]) - BHEAGERREEZ
E—TEBEERARARBEA S —Y
FRNAZTBZRAMH-

BERNFETENR T —MENATAE
AEBZAHE M BEHECKRHHEET
Freewill REFZ QAR Z WE B KR ILER
M Freewill ZIEEBIRFE AR ARE &
REZIZE -

BERNEF A Freewill 265.30% 428 74K
E B E I B A R E - Freewill Z 1878
EBAKBRR—BRE A ARRES
RE BEERRTETKBBEEASE
B Freewill Z R AR AEERRER
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31 March 2015 —F—H54#=H=+—§

14. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE AND A 1. R—HBEEATIR—MEMESEL
JOINT VENTURE (continued) FIZRE =)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial T RIIRHEC K FreewillZ B IE E R &
information of HEC and Freewill adjusted for any differences in (EREHBER2EEFEEARLELES
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in WK 2 REEYER)

the consolidated financial statements:

Investment in Investment in

Freewill HEC

A FreewillZ AHECZ
s w&

2015 2014
—E-FE —E—O5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Current assets mENEE 5,338,641
Non-current assets EREEE 2,023,179
Current liabilities mEBEE (2,124,382)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (20,813)
Net assets BEFE 5,216,625
Attributable to: THIALE:

Owners of HEC/Freewill HEC/FreewillBE & A 5,152,142

Non-controlling interests IR R = 64,483
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in HEC/  ERZN £ @ HEC/Freewill 2

Freewill: R

Proportion of the Group's ownership REEEBREL 19.54%
Carrying amount of the investment HEREE 1,006,729

Revenue Wz 967,430
Loss for the year KEEER (505,623)
Other comprehensive income H 2w A 11,195
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEEHEEELESE (494,428)
During the period ended 20 June 2014, HEC generated a REZEZFT—NFAZ+HIEAME HEC
revenue, profit after tax and other comprehensive income of EEWm BREREENREMEERAS
HK$184,196,000, HK$367,626,000 and HK$412,000 B oA B 184,196,000 © /B ¥
respectively. 367,626,0007T & & #412,0007T °

86 FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

RS BRI

30 September 2015 —ZF—AFENA=1+H

Listed equity investments at fair value

Unlisted equity investment, at fair value

Available-for-sale investments represented the Group’s
investments in listed and unlisted equity securities which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair
value through profit or loss.

During the vyear, the gross fair value gain in respect of the
Group's listed and unlisted available-for-sale investments
recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to
approximately HK$5,495,000 (2014: HK$16,521,000).

The Group's listed available-for-sale investments with an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting period of
approximately HK$32,173,000 (2014: HK$18,507,000) were
pledged to a financial institution to secure certain margin
financing facilities provided to the Group (note 22).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
market value of the listed available-for-sale investments held by
the Group as at 31 March 2015 was approximately
HK$123,695,000 (2014: HK$14,708,000).

EHEERE  BERTE

FLEMRERE  RAFE

15. A/ HHHERE
2015 2014
—EB-4%F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
18,507
18,507

AHEEREREAEER EHRIFLTR
REZIRE ZERAEFEDELRT
FEESEEREBBEARFEIIK-

FANAEBZ ERELETAHTEER
BEZAFELRZIENEM2E K AR
R R EH) ABES 495,000 (ZZE—0
£ 5116,521,0007T) °

RMERR AEB s EMAHEERE
ZEEMEMBELNBE32,173,000 (=&
—PU4E : B%18,507,0007T ) & T —
CREE UERASEER A THRE
BE (KIsE22) °

RSB RREMERR AREER -
T-RAFEZAZ+—HABEELTAHE
ERENTMEYABE123,695,0005T (=
T — P4 : 5 #14,708,0007T) °

REEHRERBRLT KUY
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GEER R EL

30 September 2015 =—F—AFNA=1+H

16. LOANS RECEIVABLE 16. Bt & &

2015 2014
—E-AfF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETT

Loans receivable U E 5K
Impairment A

Less: Balances due within one year included in 8 : st ARBIEER —F A EH

current assets 1
Non-current portion B eIk S

Loans receivable represent receivables arising from the
provision of finance business of the Group, and bear interest at
rates ranging from 7% to 48% per annum (2014: 6% to 48%
per annum). The grants of these loans were approved and
monitored by the Group’s management.

Except for a loan receivable with a carrying amount of
HK$32,000,000 (2014: HK$20,147,000) as at 31 March 2015,
which was secured by the pledge of collateral and/or personal
guarantees by certain independent third parties, all of the loans
receivable as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 were unsecured.

An aged analysis of loans receivable, determined based on the
age of the loans receivable since the effective drawn down
date of the loans, as at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

304,540
(2,000)

302,540

(301,792)

748

FEUREREASEREREESEE Y
EURHE HEFIERE48E (T —NH
F OFEEASE) MR B -AEH
EREECHARLDRERZEER

BR-_ZE—hFE=A=+—BEEEABS
#32,000,000L (=& — M F : B
20,147,00070) Z FEW E FIA B TBIL S
ZHREMEZERS RS EA BRI
IR ZE-—REFR T —NF=A
=+—HZABERKERY AERIF-

RBERR HEKEREERERRER
HERRE 2 BRECEE & 2 FE W & SRR B0 ) AT 40
T

2015 2014
—E—REF —EF—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Loans receivable: FEWE K -
Within 90 days 90H A
91 to 180 days 912180H
180 days to one year 180 E—%F
Over one year —Fp

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

242,965
8,136
52,028
1,411

304,540



An aged analysis of the loans receivable that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the payment due date, is
as follows:

RMEBMR RPN RAAEZEKE
R(WARBER R EBRERE) 2RERD
M

2015 2014
—E-HE —E—mE

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired K@ H B REE 329,995 302,540

The movements in provision for impairment of loans receivable
are as follows:

WRER Z REREESWT

2015 2014

—E-HF —E—MmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At beginning of year RE] 2,000 -
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) B ERREEE (Mi6) - 2,000
At 31 March R=A=+—H 2,000 2,000

As at 31 March 2015, included in the above provision for
impairment of loans receivable was a provision for an
individually impaired loan receivable of HK$2,000,000 (2014:
HK$2,000,000) with a carrying amount of HK$2,000,000
(2014: HK$2,000,000). The individually impaired loan
receivable related to a borrower that was in financial difficulties
or was in default and was not expected to be recoverable.

Loans receivable that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a number of diversified borrowers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

R-ZE—RFE=A=+—B LiliEks
SR E R B EREE A% 2,000,0007T
(—Z P04 : #%2,000,0007T ) Z {85
BEREWE R~ B 5%2,000,000T (==
— PO 4F - 75 #2,000,0007T ) © 1@ Bl 58 (B FE
WEFH Nz —BE TR AT S 2k
R E TR - B TE B A Uk (]

RAEMARBEEREERES L TRIE
HKABR - TS ERA L EH R ACER -
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GEER R EL

30 September 2015 =—F—AFNA=1+H

17. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

90

17. BIRER
2015 2014
—E-EHF —EF—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T 5T

Accounts receivable arising from the ordinary RE B EBBRIBEL Y

course of business of: FEHBR 3K -

- Dealing in securities: —BHEE:
Clearing houses EHEAT
Cash clients REEP
Margin clients FEEP

— Corporate finance business —EREFER

— Insurance brokerage business — R L ER

— Futures brokerage business — BB XS

The settlement terms of accounts receivable attributable to the
dealing in securities transactions are two days after the trade
date except for the balances with margin clients and cash
clients which are repayable on demand. The trading terms with
customers of corporate finance and insurance brokerage
businesses are mainly on credit, except for new customers
where payment in advance is normally required. The credit
period for customers of corporate finance and insurance
brokerage businesses is generally 30 days, extending up to 90
days for major customers. The trading terms with customers of
futures brokerage business are on a cash basis.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

3,838
67
189,191
350

BRAIREFLRRACEF 2 EHRARERE
BN BEHFEBEEBEIG 2 BRRFER
HWARZHEMEMA - BEERE MMRR
REEXEBEPHRZERTIBUCTHEER
EITOEREP —REARENK —KM
FOEERBEMMRELEBEFPNEER
HIR30B MEBEFAALERERZ90
B-BMERERBEFPZXFERARE
ZERE



An aged analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the trade date, is as follows:

N

R ERRNERFERENRZ S B Z R
g

DT

2015 2014
— —T-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Within 90 days 90H A 211,347 193,449
91 to 180 days 91£180H 172 -
211,519 193,449

An aged analysis of the accounts receivable that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

S 4845015, 1617 38 9L L2 M
BT

2015 2014

—ZE-5F —E—MOF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired B, 4 80 HA Or 4R E 209,351 193,449
Less than 1 month past due BHEIE A AR 1,613 -
1 to 3 months past due w1 E31EA 387 -
Over 3 months past due 8 BA3E A LA E 168 -
211,519 193,449

As at 31 March 2015, except for margin loans receivable of
HK$195,766,000 (2014: HK$189,191,000), which were
secured by underlying equity securities, the Group did not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

Trading limits are set for customers. The Group seeks to
maintain tight control over its outstanding accounts receivable
in order to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances are
regularly monitored by management.

Accounts receivable as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 relate to a
number of independent clients that have a good track record
with the Group and were not impaired. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company were of the opinion
that no provision for impairment was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances were still considered fully
recoverable as at 31 March 2015 and 2014.

R-ZZE—RE=ZRA=1+—HBH KBBEE
195,766,000 ( —Z — N 4F : B
189,191,0007T ) » FE W FF B B Sk A FE B8 AR
RBHEEBERIN RSBV ERZSE
BIF A TR Qe E b (s AR E i -

BEFXEERBRG - AEEHRNHERK
Yoo [o] 8 5 BR R A A R AR 2 BR AR A fo
J—USAA/@Z.:I: X1E_E EIEE}E/H\EDIL/T%Q/H\E/“E

RZE—RFR_ZT—NF=H=+—H
ZEBEF I RETRASEERIFESE
WEE B R O ERE  BIRBEL
B ARAcEERA BANEREERZ
E—hFR_ZE—NF=ZA=+—HILE
BAESANE  HERDWE AR BEK
B - AR % A SR E R B o
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RS E B HRRMEE
30 September 2015 =—F—AFNA=1+H
18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18. IR A - BRER A M EWRIE
RECEIVABLES
2015 2014
—E—RE —E 04
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Prepayments and deposits BRRERES 887
Other receivables H 4th pE W 508 596
1,483

The balance of other receivables is neither past due nor
impaired and the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the balance is fully recoverable.

H A 8 WK IR A BR S R L BORORVE - R
AREFR/RFR/HBAZEKE -

19. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. BBRB[LUAFEHIIEZRE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2015 2014

—E-RfF —T—NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

Listed equity investments, at market value TR E RTE 1,830,897

Listed debt investment, at market value THEEERE ETE 5,702

1,836,599

Unlisted debt investment, at fair value FEMEBEE EAFE -

1,836,599

The investments as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 were classified as
held for trading. The Group’s investments at fair value through
profit or loss with an aggregate carrying value at the end of the
reporting period of approximately HK$3,318,654,000 (2014:
HK$1,836,599,000) were pledged to certain financial institutions
to secure certain margin financing facilities provided to the Group
(note 22).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
aggregate market value of listed securities held by the Group
as at 31 March 2015 was approximately HK$6,789,699,000
(2014: HK$1,654,604,000).

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

RZE—RAFEERZZFE—NF=-A=+—H
ZIREDERAFEERER - REHR
AEEFRBETAQNFENEZERE ZEK
H#EEY A B%3,318,654,0000L (=&
— PO 4 - B #1,836,599,0007T ) ¢ & 1
TETLREE UWERASEER ZE
FTHERE (M5E22) -

RHLEZETHREOH AEEBR-F
—HEF =A==+ ABBAZLTES &
TH{E 4 A5 16,789,699,0007 ( ZZE—Y
£ 3 1,654,604,0007T ) °
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20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

21.

RS BRI

30 September 2015 —ZF—AFENA=1+H

20. B & & R TR

2015 2014
—EB-4%F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Cash and bank balances

As at 31 March 2015 and 2014, all the cash and bank balances
of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Certain cash at banks of the Group earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts
of the cash and bank balances approximate to their fair values.

The Group maintains trust accounts with authorised institutions
in respect of clients” monies arising from the course of
securities and futures brokerage, insurance brokerage and the
respective financing services. As at 31 March 2015,
HK$5,286,000 (2014: HK$6,326,000) was held by the Group
on behalf of the clients in the trust accounts. The client monies
as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 were not included in the
Group’s cash and bank balances.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
The balance as at 31 March 2015 was all aged within 90 days
(31 March 2014: 30 days).

Be MRTTES

21.

57,160

RZE—RAFR-_ZE—NF=A=+—
B AEBFRARS METEGHNEE
FHE -

AEERRITZETREREFARTE
KA RIZFEH KRB - RE RRITEHR
ZEREERE QA FERE-

AREBRERERBEITERPS W
REHFMPEEL  RERELBERARH
BERBYPEEZEPRE-RZZ—H
FZA=FT—H AEBERERZTFPAFAE
BRE A 815,286,000t ( —ZF — 4
B 16,326,000L) RZTE—HFR T
—ME=ZA=+—HNEFFEL T A
REBZIRE RIBITREG

FE 5 iR &
RZE-—RF=A=+—B &8B7E®
HEWR (ZE—NF=A=+—H:30
H)A-

REEREREBRLT BB
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22.

Current

INTEREST-BEARING OTHER BORROWINGS 22. R HEMfEE
2015 2014
—E-FE “E-F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000
BEER FFER
FI%E (%) L= BETTL 1% (%) s BETT
ik
Other borrowings e
- secured (note (b)) ~BER (M) 1.89 - 2.65 2014 175,848
—2-mF
- secured (note (b)) ~ B (D) 1.76-724  On demand 32,883
- unsecured (note (c)) ~BEE (W) N/A N/A -
TR TEm
208,731
2015 2014
ZE-RE —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT
Analysed into: A :
Margin loans repayable on demand BREREE/ARER 32,883
Other borrowings repayable within one year BAR—FREBZEMEES 175,848
208,731

Notes:

(0

All borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

At 31 March 2015, the Group’s margin loans and other
borrowings of HK$200,255,000 (2014: HK$208,731,000) were
secured by the Group’s listed and unlisted available-for-sale
investments and investments at fair value through profit or loss
with aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$32,173,000
(2014: HK$18,507,000) and HK$3,318,654,000 (2014:
HK$1,836,599,000), respectively (notes 15 and 19).

The unsecured other borrowing of HK$120,000,000 bore interest
at 7.5% per annum and was repayable on maturity on 2 April
2015.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

B AL

(a)

AEER-_ZTE—HER-_ZT—NF=A
T+ —HNFBREHUWEEEE.

R-T—RFE=A=+—H KEEBEK
200,255,000 (T — O &F : B
208,731,0007T) 2 FHFEER R EMEE D
RS [ AR T 4R (B 4078 #632,173,0000T (=&
— U4 < E#18,507,0007T) 2 F R 3EETH
Al SR E 1 #3,318,654,000T (=%
—PO4F : ##1,836,599,0007T ) 7 i 1B # A
NEEHRZIEE IR (HI5E15519)

K15 H b {8 B 78 %120,000,0007T 5 3%
FHRR7SENE AR E—RFMNAZ
HEIHRFEE -



The movements in deferred tax liability and assets during the
year are as follows:

Deferred tax liability

BLERBEEREENFRAZESHNT:

ELEHEEE
Temporary difference related to
unrealised fair value gains of
investments at fair value
through profit or loss
HEBREBEEUAFETR
ZREZRBRALAFENRS

EHRCERER

2015 2014

—E-1E —ZT—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BB T

At beginning of year REH] = -
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated income FNEHFEWRERNR CEEHRE

statement during the year (note 10) (HMizE10) 42,289 -

Deferred tax liability at 31 March RZAZ+—HZECHBEEE 42,289 -

Deferred tax assets

EEREEE
Temporary difference related to
depreciation in excess of
related depreciation allowances

Sl ERE
FTEEECERER
2015 2014
—Z2-1F —T-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At beginning of year REA] 99 47
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated income FREFTAGERER ZEEFIE
statement during the year (note 10) (MF5x10) 53 52
Deferred tax assets at 31 March RZAZ+—HZEEREEE 152 99

At 31 March 2015, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of approximately HK$1,365,945,000 (2014:
HK$850,936,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong
Inland Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised at the end of the reporting period in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in companies that have been
loss-making for some time or due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams of those companies, and accordingly, it is
not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

R-ZZE—RAE=A=+—H8 AEEEEF
BEEZHIBBELAB1,365,945,000
T (=—Z— P4 E#¥850,936,0007T)
(BEFEERBERAE) ZEHREEE
ERAAEREEEBBZ AR ZAKE
AEA - -ARESEBEBIEBZAREH
MZRFRARKEBTZEAT 2 ARG
F B - MU AR & 7N T 828 FE SR B 0% I A
AEAZHEBERE BRBEHR
VERZEEBEREEHBEE-



Shares B 4
2015 2014
—E-1f —F-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Authorised: EE
5,000,000,000,000 (2014: 500,000,000,000) ordinary 5,000,000,000,000% (= Z—M % :
shares of HK$0.001 (2014: HK$0.01) each 500,000,000,000/% ) & B A B 5 &
0.0017T (ZZF— M4 : E%0.017T)
Lk 5,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRER:
10,324,137,300 (2014: 344,137,910) ordinary shares of 10,324,137,300/ (ZZ— W&
HK$0.001 (2014: HK$0.01) each 344,137,910/ ) = B A 1B % #0.001
TL(ZZE—WF:E¥0.01L) 2
L@ 10,324 3,441

A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued capital

RAFEBITRA NG B2 ZEH

and share premium account is as follows: /(N
Share
Number of Issued premium
Notes shares in issue capital account Total
Mz  CBITROHE BRTRA R 1B R nEy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2013 RZZ—=%@mA—-H 840,337,420 42,017 1,447,401* 1,489,418
Exercise of share options {7 B MR 1 (a) 73,533,740 3,677 5,253 8,930
Issue of new shares BITH RN (b) 99,423,798 2,676 41,679 44,355
Capital reorganisation P A E 48 () (860,344,776) (46,841) - (46,841)
Rights issue iz (d) 191,187,728 1,912 160,598 162,510
Share issue expenses WmETHEY - - (7,578) (7,578)
At 31 March 2014and ~ RZZT—WF
1 April 2014 “A=+-Hk
—E-NEMNA—H 344,137,910 3,441 1,647,353* 1,650,794
Issues of bonus shares BTAR (e) 3,785,517,010 6,883 - 6,883
Share subdivision Betn 4 4 (f) 6,194,482,380 - - -
At 31 March 2015 RZZ-RA$¥=A=+—H 10,324,137,300 10,324 1,647,353* 1,657,677

* Share issue expenses of HK$1,350,000 and HK$42,000, which
were paid to a subsidiary of the Company during the years
ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2014, respectively, were
eliminated in full at consolidation. Such share issue expenses
were deducted from the share premium account balance of the
Company.

A% 317 59 2 8 #1,350,0007T & 75 B
42,000t EDFIRBEE=ZT—ZF = A
—+—HEZZE—WNF=ZA=+—HItF
EXMNFARBZHB AR  BERERAR
BHEHE - ZERNDEITHIERAQF
B S ERATER MR -



Notes:

In April 2013, the subscription rights attaching to 73,533,740
share options granted to certain independent third party advisors
were exercised at an exercise price of HK$0.114 per share,
resulting in the issue of 73,533,740 new shares of the Company
of HK$0.05 each for a total cash consideration, before share
option expenses of HK$547,000, of approximately
HK$8,383,000.

In May 2013, the Company allotted and issued 42,067,480
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each to independent third parties at
a subscription price of HK$0.10 per share, giving rise to an
increase of approximately HK$2,103,000 for both share capital
and share premium.

In December 2013 (after the below-mentioned capital
reorganisation in note 24(c)), the Company allotted and issued
57,356,318 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each to independent
third parties at a subscription price of HK$0.7 per share, giving
rise to an increase in share capital of approximately HK$573,000
and share premium of HK$39,576,000.

In May 2013, the Company effected a capital reorganisation
("Capital Reorganisation”) which involved (i) the consolidation of
every ten shares with par value of HK$0.05 each being
consolidated into one consolidated share with par value in the
capital of the Company of HK$0.50 each; (ii) a capital reduction
to reduce the par value of the consolidated share from HK$0.50
to HK$0.01 by cancellation of the paid-up capital to the extent
of HK$0.49 on each consolidation share; and (iii) the application
of the credit arising from such reduction of approximately
HK$46,841,000 towards the distributable reserve of the
Company.

In July 2013, the Company issued 191,187,728 new shares with
par value of HK$0.01 each at a subscription price of HK$0.85
each under rights issue for a total cash consideration, before
expenses, of approximately HK$162,510,000.

In September 2014, the Company distributed a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2014 of HK$0.01 per share by way of
an issue of bonus shares of 344,137,910 with par value of
HK$0.01 each, giving rise to an increase in share capital of
approximately HK$3,441,000.

In December 2014 (after the below-mentioned share subdivision
in note 24(f)), the Company further issued bonus shares of
3,441,379,100 with par value of HK$0.001 each, on the basis of
one bonus share for every two subdivided shares, giving rise to
an increase in share capital of approximately HK$3,442,000.

In December 2014, the Company effected a share subdivision of
every one share with par value of HK$0.01 each being
subdivided into ten subdivided shares with par value in the
capital of the Company of HK$0.001 each.

W3 :

RZE—ZFNA BYTETBEILE=H
A 2 73,533,74010 BB AR HERERT 2 SR B 4
BEERBBO 4T ZITHEEETE &
B E£1773,533,7400 &R EEE¥0.057C
ZADRFHBD BRREREHAEBE
8,383,000 (RAFEBRER B
547,0007T) °

RZZE—=FHA ARRIEGRIAEE
B0 10T S BB E = e R BT
42,067,480 BRI EAH0.057L 2 il
B% - 8 BRI IR 1D 5 (B 29 35 hn 4978 1
2,103,0007T °

RoZB—=F+—"F (T xMHtE24(c)frit
BARERR) AARIERBEEREE
0.77TLA% &I E =77 B 3 K 3&EAT
57,356,318R FRMEEEH0.01 T2 E B
% - 38 B IR AN 38 b0 49 7 #5573,0007T & %
19334 (B 38 H1 7% #39,576,0007T

RZZT—=FHA  ARAET—RER
S8 ([BASA])  SROBEARRAE
FETRERAEEEE0.05 T2 BE A
A—REEBE0.50T 2 A HHI G ¢+ R (i)
BRFHSRAHRMOPBE0.49T 2R
ERRAT BRI A - # 6 GHRD 2 EE A
BE0.50T R EARE0.017T K (D A
ZERE L 2 EREA)E%46,841,0007T
FTARRRZ A D IRFEE -

RZZE—=F LA AARRKEHRKRIER
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The share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 31 August 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) with a term of
ten years commencing from 31 August 2012.

The primary purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole. Further details of the 2012 Scheme were disclosed in
the Company's circular dated 25 July 2012.

The categories of the participants under the 2012 Scheme are
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company and its subsidiaries and employees of the Group and
any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers to the Group whom the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, make an offer to any
participant to take up share options. An offer is deemed to
have been accepted and a share option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted and shall take effect when the
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the grantee and the remittance of HK$1 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company. Share options granted may be exercised during the
period as notified by the Board to each grantee at the time of
making the offer and shall be at any time from the date of
grant to the tenth anniversary thereof.
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The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options granted under the 2012 Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(excluding share options lapsed) must not exceed 10% of the
total number of the Company's ordinary shares in issue on
respective adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit").
Moreover, the maximum number of ordinary shares in respect
of which share options may be granted to each of the
participants (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the 2012 Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
(when aggregated with any shares subject to any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the
Company’s ordinary shares in issue. The Company may renew
the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject to prior
shareholders’ approval in general meeting and the Stock
Exchange granting listing of and permission to deal in the
Company’s shares to be issued upon exercise of options
pursuant to the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The subscription price for shares on the exercise of share
options under the 2012 Scheme shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be
less than the greatest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date on which a share option is
granted; (i) the average closing price of the Company’s share
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date on which a share option is granted; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed to 68,827,582 shares
with par value of HK$0.01 each upon the approval of
shareholders at the Company’s extraordinary general meeting
on 14 November 2014. The total number of shares available
for issue under the 2012 Scheme was revised upon the
completion of the share subdivision in December 2014 as
further detailed in note 24(f) to 688,275,820 shares with par
value of HK$0.001 each, being approximately 6.7% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the end of the
reporting period.
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 25. Bk Rt B ()
The following share options were exercised under the 2012 THRE T - _F5r R E 2 BRER
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2014: HE-_ZT—WF=A=+—HILFEE
i
Number of share options** Price of the Company's shares
BhEza- RATRAER

Immediately
before the M
Brerdse  dateof  Immedately exercise
Granted  Bxercised  Cancelled ~ Adjustments pice  grantof  before the date of
during the  duringthe ~ during the ~ during the M Dateofgrantof  Evercise period of  of share share - evercise share

Name or category of participant At 1 April year Jear ear year 31 March share options® ~ share options ~~ options**options date*** options

R BhE ZRERE 28R RERE

BEEREIT RBA-B ERREL EAGR  EREE  EREE CA=r-B BRRERRRE:  BRECRS  ORE-REE®E  BEA= GREH

000 000 000 000 000 000 HKS per share ~ HKS per shareHKS per share — HKS per share
R TR TR T Th Th SRA%  BREM  SREY  BREE

2014

E-mE

Non-employees

#EE

In aggregate - T35 (7353 - - - 16-4-2013 16-4-2013 10 0.114 0.112 0.112 011

it o5k 1542003

mETHE “E-ck
mATAR

S St

mATHR

Weighted average exercse price - HKS0.114 HKS0.114 - - -

ETAARE ER01147 BR0.11T

* The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the * LSRR BB BRI AR ET
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. BEEIRIR AL -

**  The exercise price and the number of the share options are o fETHRSKAIIRET AR FIRAEE
subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or H O EE) b FRERE ZITEE RS
other similar changes in the Company’s share capital. BA T %

***  The price of the Company's shares disclosed immediately before ek PR TR BB ARES T B HIRI 2 A A A
the exercise date of the share options is the weighted average of B ERAEERRETE R AR 2B
the Stock Exchange closing price immediately before the dates Frig (8 2 hng Fia & -

on which the options were exercised.
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On 16 April 2013, 73,533,740 share options to subscribe for
the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at an
exercise price of HK$0.114 each were granted by the Company
to non-employees of the Group under the 2012 Scheme and
were fully exercised on the same date. The 73,533,740 share
options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2014
resulted in the issue of 73,533,740 ordinary shares of the
Company and new share capital of HK$3,677,000 and share
premium of HK$4,706,000 (before the transfer of related share
option reserve), as further detailed in note 24(a) to these
financial statements.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year was estimated as at the date of grant, using the
binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The values of share
options calculated using the binomial model were subject to
certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective nature of
and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the
expected future performance input to the model, and certain
inherent limitations of the model itself. The value of an option
varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.
Any change to the variables used may materially affect the
estimation of the fair value of an option.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used during
the year ended 31 March 2014:

RZE—=FWA+ B AAFRE=
T FHEMAEEIERE KD
73,533,740f0 BE iR 1 - LARIB AR R AR A
RHEER BHTEEBK114T B
HMERECABEESTE - REE2=-F
- NFEF=ZA=ZFT—BLHEFETHE
73,533,74017 BB A% #1435 7773,533,7400%
KRR EBR - W IR A B 3,677,000
TT N D (BB 54,706,000 (RER R
R ER ) FBERREME®ME
MfsE24(a) °

AEERENOUARREEBREZAF
B RS EBERA - EAEA AR A
BT R P B RO AR SR R AR A - P AR
MEEXRA _BAARAGE AXETE
AEFFAR -HREXAZTEEER X
JIEMABBHARKRENBRRNBAZHA
BERREEN  UEBEXAGNETRR B
BRENEEXETIEBRRNEHZTE -
P A E B Z ) al HRERE R R FER
AHMARERTE -

TRENBE-_ZFT-—WF=A=+—HB1
FEZEAMRBz2BAZE:

Contractual life of options (years) BRESKHFE (F) 10
Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEE (EREBE) 0.114
Dividend yield (%) KB K (%) -
Historical volatility (%) B 1R (%) 89.79
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 [ b ) R (%) 0.896
Exercise multiple 1T B 1.07
Exit rate RH & -

The aggregate fair value of the share options granted was
HK$547,000 and was recognised as share option expenses in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2014. No share option was granted during the year
ended 31 March 2015.

There were no share options outstanding under the 2012
Scheme as at 31 March 2015 and 2014.

Fr 5% B I 2 48 A B A B 547,000
TOREE-_Z-—NF=ZAZ=Z+—HILF
EREEVBMERPERSBRERS -
HE T HE=A=+—HItFETE
B E fe) BE A A o

R-TP—AFER-FB-—NF=A=+—
B3 8 = T — R BT 2 MR R
7 -



The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 36 of the
financial statements.

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

REEBRAFERBEFEZHESSR
HE RO ERRFI6E 2 GaERE
KAE5 -

&
D)

Eﬁ%ﬁ#%k%52$%lmé/iﬁ
FEYIAT

2015 2014
—E-4% —ZE—mF
Percentage of equity interest held by non- REERERA 73H A& HE =
controlling interests of Freeman Corporation RENRAEZBEDL
Limited 60.5% -
2015 2014
—E-IF —mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loss for the year allocated to non-controlling AFEESEFREEBRER A
interests of Freeman Corporation Limited TR ER S (113,454) -
Accumulated balances of non-controlling LR AR D FIFEIERER
interests at the reporting dates of Freeman R E B Ee 2t
Corporation Limited 1,606,550 -

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of Freeman Corporation Limited for the year
ended/as at 31 March 2015. The amounts disclosed are before
any inter-company eliminations:

T%EREHEE:} HXEBE j@g:g_ﬁ
FZA=+T—HILLFE/RZENUBE
L E - R B @ AT REMA R RS
8

HK$'000

BT T
Revenue g (14,976)
Profit for the year NF E 429,396
Other comprehensive income Hibh2mEBA 5,495
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEEBALLRE 434,891
Current assets TmENE E 4,341,489
Non-current assets FEMBEE 95,106
Current liabilities mENBE (325,031)
Non-current liabilities EREBAE (42,289)
Net cash flows used in operating activities EEEYMBACREREFE (1,475,781)
Net cash flows used in investing activities WEFSBACHEESREFE (73,005)
Net cash flows from financing activities BMETMELECHEEREFE 1,542,964
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RekBeZFEWRI FE (5,822)




In February 2015, the Group acquired a 100% interest in FCL
from an associate of a joint venture of the Group. FCL is
engaged in the provision of futures brokerage services. The
acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to create
a one-stop financial conglomerate to provide a more
comprehensive range of financial services. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with
HK$10,000,000 paid in advance in June 2014.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of FCL as
at the date of acquisition were as follows:

R_ZE—RAF_A A&EBE4AEE
BEARZ —MBEATRERCIERZ
EHBRE - RETBHEREDHELLHR
ZWEEERAEEAEZREER AN
SRRBEz WA ERTFE KRBz — 3
DoZWEEEZWEREURSXMA 8
BR-ZT—WF X ATEMH%10,000,000
5t o

%

REZBRREBRARZABAIEERAR
ZRFEWT

Fair value

recognised

on acquisition

2RI

BRAZAFE

Note HK$'000

B 5 BT T

Intangible asset mEEE 13 1,397
Accounts receivable & I BR X 2,452
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TER RIE - i I H e WGRIE 1,619
Bank balances RIT4 4,619
Other payables and accruals ﬁﬁﬂﬁiﬁ KIE & EEE A (87)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRATEFECABNEEFEESE 10,000
Satisfied by cash AR & 3 A4 10,000

The fair values of the accounts receivable, and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables as at the date of acquisition
amounted to HK$2,452,000 and HK$1,619,000, respectively.
The gross contractual amounts of accounts receivable, and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables were
HK$2,452,000 and HK$1,619,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$70,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and
are included in general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated income statement.

FEUBRER - TE R ~ L& R HE A R UG IE
RUWE R AT ED R AEE2,452,000
7T & 7B #1,619,0007T ° JEURBR 380 T 3K
H - EZehHEMEWRBZBENESES
Bl A 7 #2,452,0000T & & #1,619,000
T o

AEERZARBEREEIHRANBE
70,0007 ° ZEX HRAD I 2 A
FAEWERT —REITEAXA-
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28. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 28. KRB )
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a BRWE-—BWBRARZRESRES TN
subsidiary is as follows: Ik
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration RERE (10,000)
Bank balances acquired FrER{S 2 SR1T 4 82 4,619
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in st ARBEBREAZESREZ
cash flows from investing activities RekReEEFRD (5,381)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash AAREEMEEACREREL
flows from operating activities gl Y N (70)
(5,451)
Since the acquisition, FCL contributed a loss of HK$33,000 to BUWELR REZERAEZ T —RF
the consolidated profit for the year ended 31 March 2015. FCL A=t -BLFEZEaRNEREE
did not contribute any revenue to the Group during the year 33,000 REERRBE_ZT—H
ended 31 March 2015. FZA=t—"BUEFEITERLTEETE
ERER e
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, WMeEMERNENEE AIXREERBEC
the revenue and profit of the Group for the year ended 31 T—AE=A=T—HLEFEzZREKAR
March 2015 would have been a debit of HK$14,976,000 and 1% 9 Bl & 50 A& #14,976,0007T K & ¥
HK$418,244,000, respectively. 418,244,0007T °
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29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 29. HEME 27
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group disposed of HE-_FT—WF=-A=+—HILEFE XK
its entire equity interests in Longsun Limited, Loyal Epic Limited SEREREE-_T—NF=A=+—H
and Swiss Nice Limited, which were wholly-owned subsidiaries EFERII2Z2HEEH#  WERED
of the Group and either principally engaged in investment PEEE70,000tMZ R BILE = FEEER
holding or inactive, to independent third parties, for a total Longsun Limited - Loyal Epic Limitedf
consideration of approximately HK$70,000 pursuant to the Swiss Nice LimitedZ & ZBAEHE - 72 5 A &)
respective sale and purchase agreements entered into during BAEE s 2EWBRAR TERERE
the year ended 31 March 2014. R T R
2014
—ZT-mEF
Note HK$'000
Bt BT T
Net assets disposed of: HEEEFE:
Cash and bank balances R RIRITHEER 13
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries LEMBA R W 5 57
70
Satisfied by cash AR e X 70
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents RBE-_ZE—NF=A=+—BHLFE"
during the year ended 31 March 2014 in respect of the FHEHENBRAR RS RESEEYR
disposal of subsidiaries was as follows: ANFEDTHET :
2014
—E-MF
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration ReENRE 70
Cash and bank balances disposed of EHERE RIRITHE (13)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of ~HREHLEME AT 2
the disposal of subsidiaries RekReSEWRAFE 57
30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 30. EE K
Details of the Group's interest-bearing other borrowings, which REEBZFREMEBEE (UAEBZEE
are secured by the assets of the Group, are included in notes EER) ZHFBHRNZEM B RmKM T
15, 19 and 22 to these financial statements. 1519522 -

REERERBRAF
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31. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 31. BEHHRH
As lessee ERAEAA
The Group leases staff quarters and office premises under AEBERBEEHNRHBEEETIBTER
operating lease arrangements. The leases for the properties are MRS MEREZHBLER AN T
negotiated for terms of ranging from one to two years. —EWFo
The Group had total future minimum lease payments under the REERBETTRBLEEHEN 2 RRKIE
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows: HENRBBZHEBABRAT
2015 2014
—E-AfF —ZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within one year —FR 5,172
In the second year g _F 731
5,903
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32.AESXH
(a) In addition to the transactions and arrangements detailed () BREUBREREMIBAFAFILZR
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had S REZHEIN AR BN EE B E
the following transactions with related parties during the FENUNTRS:
year:
2015 2014
—E-RfF —ZT—NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 BT T BT T
Associate (including its subsidiaries): Bt X al (BIEENBRAR) :
Commission and brokerage income REFHFEEFZHE R&RL
from securities dealings A 817
Commission and brokerage REBHBEE M RER
expenses from securities dealings 53 1,134
Commission income from REBRERE A BA
underwriting services 500
Commission expenses from REBHEREERE 2 A2
underwriting and placing services (3 4,875
Margin loan interest income TR E H A S WA 5,049
Introduction fee NAE 1,000
Rental expenses MeMx 4,566
Notes: Bt = -
() The commission and brokerage income were received from ()  AekELBATIRRIBHEBSF LD
certain subsidiaries of an associate of the Group for fRisAARE —MBEARZET
securities brokerage services rendered. The terms and BiES  B YR - B2 B H A 5 AR R 2
conditions associated with the dealing of securities were WA S AR AR BSR4 T2 BB S
made according to the terms and conditions offered to B P 2 R AR E

external customers of that entity.
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(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

The commission and brokerage expenses were paid to a
subsidiary of an associate of the Group for securities
brokerage services rendered. The terms and conditions
associated with the dealing of securities were made
according to the terms and conditions offered to external
customers of those entities.

The commission income was received from a subsidiary of
an associate. The terms and conditions associated with the
underwriting services were made according to the terms
and conditions offered to external customers of that entity.

The commission fee was paid to a subsidiary of an associate.
The terms and conditions associated with the underwriting
and placing services were made according to the terms and
conditions offered to external customers of that entity.

The interest income arose from margin loans advanced to
certain subsidiaries of an associate of the Group which
were charged at 8% to 10% per annum (2014: 8.25% to
10% per annum).

The introduction fee income arose from referral a customer
to a subsidiary of an associate of the Group for
underwriting and placing services, in which a lump sum
service income was received. The fee was mutually agreed
between the Group and that entity.

The rental expenses were related to the leasing of the
Group's office premises from certain subsidiaries of an
associate of the Group, of which rentals were charged at
monthly fixed amounts in accordance with the underlying
rental agreements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the

(a) (4#)
B 5

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(%)

e MR TR HEH LA
RGN FAEE —HBERRZ
—HHBAR - HEEESEEZ
R EGETDRERETZSER
SNERE P 2 AR R AR IR B E

BEWATIHERE — R ERE 2
—HfEAE - EEHREERZ
AR MR TR B IR TR B 885D
BEP ZIERR RGBT -

BEeEBRNXNT-RBEREZ
— KB AR - H a8 NS R
MR 2 AR B AR TR IR AR €1 T 3%
BRINEZP 2R RAGITEE -

F B AR B R FAEE— B
BRRIZETHBRARZHEER
ZERIEEFEEEI0ENE (ZE
— P4 HFF825EE10E) »

NEERENEHEREERE /A
SE-BBE R —HEBARF
MAFEP W —RIERFEA -
ZERDAAEEEZEEARR
o

HE XX ZRAREE—HEE Q8
ZETHBAREEREERLS
PRI B iEes AREMERME
iR EEEER -

by AEEXZERABZHH:

Group:

2015 2014
— —TmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Short term employee benefits RHEE®RN 4,377 4,765
Post-employment payments RIRTE A 119 114

Total compensation paid to key management T AITBEEAEZ N2
personnel 48 %7 4,496 4,879

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 8 to these financial statements.

EEMe 2 E - PHBENZEUWBERER
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 3. BRNABSgcamMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R|ERR SR 22T A ZERE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as N
follows:
2015
—T—hF
Financial assets
TREE
Financial
assets
at fair value
through
Available- profit
for-sale or loss
financial - held for Loans and
assets trading receivables Total
EBBEHU
NFEH R
AHEE 2E2REE ERR
TRMEE -BFEE  EBWHE Bt

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AT  ARTRIT ABTT ABTIT

Available-for-sale investments AEHERE

Accounts receivable FEUBR X

Loans receivable R E R

Financial assets included in BERBNARIE -Z2 K
prepayments, deposits and other ~ EfhENRF A & REE
receivables E

Investments at fair value through  BBEZRIAATFETERZ
profit or loss ®E

Cash and bank balances R RIRITHH

Financial liabilities

cRAE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REBIERRARZ
cRAE
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable JE 1 BR 3K
Financial liabilities included in other payables and BENEMENFERETERZ
accruals TMEE
Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEEMEE

108 FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED



Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
GEESA R EL

30 September 2015 —ZF—AFENA=1+H

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 3. BMNEIgceaMIR (&)
(Continued)
2014
—E—NF
Financial assets
SREE
Financial
assets
at fair value
through
Available- profit
for-sale or loss
financial —held for  Loans and
asset trading  receivables Total
% B8z A
NFEER
AHEHE Z2emEE ER R
cREE —BEEE  EKRFHIE @t

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AT BRI ABTT ABETET

Available-for-sale investment AR ERE 18,507 - - 18,507
Accounts receivable JE I BR AR - - 193,449 193,449
Loans receivable EUE & - - 302,540 302,540
Financial assets included in BERENRIE 2k

prepayments, deposits and other H iU FIE 2

receivables TREE _ - 1,016 1,016
Investments at fair value through  BERBZUAXFEIEZ

profit or loss K& - 1,836,599 - 1,836,599
Cash and bank balances Be RRITEH - - 57,160 57,160

18,507 1,836,599 554,165 2,409,271

Financial liabilities

Gz =N

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
R RN A BR
ZEmBE
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable FETER K 363

Financial liabilities included in other payables and BEREMENREBEREFERZ
accruals EHBE 811
Interest-bearing other borrowings AAEHMEER 208,731
209,905

REERERBRAF
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 34. &M TAZAFEHRLAFES

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS L EY:
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial rEEzeRmIA(RRHERATESRE
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that BEERIN 2EEERAFERT:

reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
FREE nFE
2015 2014 2015 2014

—E-RF ZZ—NF ZE-HFE —ZZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AETx BETR EBETR

Financial assets ERMEE
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 18,507 18,507
Loans receivable, non-current FEU & Rz FERNERER >

portion 748 748
Investments at fair value through  BBEZRIAAFETERZ

profit or loss "B 1,836,599 1,836,599
Management has assessed that the fair values of accounts EIRE L BERK - B E K2 BNERER
receivable, the current portion of loans receivable, financial D BIEEBMNRE e R EMmEWRFRIE
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, tremEE -Be RIBTESR EBNEK
cash and bank balances, accounts payable, financial liabilities FBETEMENREREAERA+T 2
included in other payables and accruals and interest-bearing PRABRRFEEMBE LA TEEAR
other borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely HAEAE TESHARZET A ZIHE
due to the short term maturities of these instruments. R -
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The Group’s management is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments and reports directly to the audit
committee. At each reporting date, management analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial
reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of listed equity and debt investments are based
on quoted market prices.

The fair value of unlisted equity investment is based on recently
transacted price.

The fair value of unlisted debt investment has been estimated
using Trinomial Tree Pricing Model. The directors believe that
the estimated fair value resulting from the valuation technique,
which was recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related change in fair value, which was
recorded in consolidated income statement, was reasonable,
and that it was the most appropriate value at the end of the
reporting period.

The fair values of the non-current portion of loans receivable
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

AEEEREARETSM T AR FER
BEZHEREEF YEERERZEER
T REHMEEH EEEONMEMIAZ
BEEY EFHERAZIEBAZ2H-
BFEMAAEZZE SN mEEBRRE NG
RNETFERPHBAR-

TRMEERABZAFENRZITAAMR
57 (CREFBRHERINERNRS T2
AXRSEEAK-GAAFERDEAT
5 75 7R R Rk

EHEREREHRE 2 A FEERT ISR

B

S b AR IR A A A A BB H % 5 (8
o

FLETEBRENRFETIER =X H
REBBRUGH EFRA ERAERM
fat 2 A FE (RAFEMBIRER) &
HEAFEZS (RAGGRER)BA
B ARBEHRAREEZMGE

R B SRS 2 A FE T E
KEEEB RS T BB SR
TARETEZ NRERERRRE SR
EHEHE-
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 34. &M TAZAFEHRLAFES

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) WA )

Fair value hierarchy AEEIRERE

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRINTAEEEHMIAZAFEIRE
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments: 1

Assets measured at fair value: U FEFEZEE:

Fair value measurement using
ERAUTREZAFENE
Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
BERAEE BEATRH
ERT IS RE BWAZE BEBAZY

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(%—18) (5=/8) (%=/8) MEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BT

As at 31 March 2015: R-ZF-pF=f=+—H:
Available-for-sale investments HHERE
Investments at fair value through profit EBEFNAFEIEZRE
or loss
As at 31 March 2014: RZE-RE=HA=+—H:
Available-for-sale investment HHERE 18,507 - - 18,507
Investments at fair value through profit EBEFNATFEIEZRE
or loss 1,836,599 - - 1,836,599

1,855,106 - - 1,855,106
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3. &M TRAZAFEHRLAFES

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) WmEE 2

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFESRER (£)

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair RZE-—AFER-_ZE—NF=A=+—

value as at 31 March 2015 and 2014. A AEBYEEAFNZAFEFEZ SR
ABfE-

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER - F-BEE BRI EEREM

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers AVEFE TEEBF-EE ANE HT

into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial AAFE(ZE—MEF /) -

liabilities (2014: Nil).

Asset for which fair value is disclosed: ERBLAFEZEE:
Fair value measurement using
FRAATEEBEBZATEFZ
Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

BEATEHE BEARRT

SERMIERE BAZY BREBAAZH
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(5—F8) (5=[8) (5=E) FoERy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT BBTT BT

As at 31 March 2014: RZF—FE
=A=4+—H:
Loans receivable, non-current W E Kz IEBNERER &
portion - 748 - 748

REEHRERBRLT HEES



The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing other borrowings and cash and bank balances. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group's operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as available-for-sale
investments, accounts receivable, loans receivable, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
investments at fair value through profit or loss, accounts
payable and financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, which mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity and
debt price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to its interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities. Interest-bearing financial assets are mainly loans
receivable and bank deposits primarily at floating interest rates
which are mostly short term in nature whereas financial
liabilities are mainly other borrowings at floating interest rates.
The Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable interest
rate available.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact
on floating rate bank deposits, loans receivable and other
borrowings) and the Group's equity.

AEEZEZem T AR EHMEES
MBS RBRTEHR - ZET2MIATEE
EAANEEEESEEES AEEHES
HEMERMEELBE WEFERALE
PEEEEZAIHDERE  BUKER &
WER - BENREBENFIE e REMEY
REZEREE- %iﬁ?é/\_’\l%”\¥fﬁ§”ﬁ§
AR E - E IR R B R M FE T R
LEGBRAPZEHMEE-

Kﬁlzzf@ﬂlﬂﬁﬁFiZIxﬂﬁ =Rl
Lﬁ“‘f’iffﬂﬂ % °§$Q?¢z EEXIEH R
AT Mt T BUR  BRARaA

T E @ Bz
AEEESzTENEESRB T REE
AEERMEEREMAEARAMA- aJr,ufi}Ea*;
BEXTZRINFBNERGFEZREERR
RITFR(RBoBREBAME) TE2e
BRAIEZRNEBNERFEZHMER-
AEBEZBREHBERZEENX-

TRIVRAEBEBRB AR (EF B RTT
T RRERREMEEZZET)ER
SEESHMNERZAEREEE 2
B ETREMEEMBERERTE-
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

ERRE ,M&‘iﬁﬁﬁﬁ?

30 September 2015 —ZE—AFNA H

35. MERBERARARR o)

Interest rate risk (Continued) MEmba (&)
Increase/
Increase/  (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points  before tax in equity*
B %5 A
e, #n Rz
CRA) CRA) R
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB TT
2015 ZET-hF
Hong Kong dollar oo 25 274 -
Hong Kong dollar ke (25) (274) -
2014 —E—F
Hong Kong dollar ot 25 (441) -
Hong Kong dollar B (25) 441 -
* Excluding retained profits * T BRI R S F
Credit risk =EER

The Group's major exposure to credit risk relates to accounts
receivable, loans receivable, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, cash and bank
balances and investments at fair value through profit or loss
arises from default of the counterparties, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
The Group's loans and accounts receivable arise from the
ordinary course of business of the Group and are closely
monitored by the directors on an ongoing basis. Further
quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from loans and accounts receivable are disclosed in
notes 16 and 17, respectively, to these financial statements.

AEERBTRNELE T B EERR SR
FEMBR K R E R BRRETRN IR 1R
e RhEMEEFETzZEREE RER
RITHEBR LB BBERARFEINKZRE

B ERARBREFNZFTAZEEE:-
AEBZEREEFRREREREE —RE

%ﬂ&$?¢,1m§$¢*“*ﬁﬁ A
BASBERERMERERSI B ZEER
Bz — P EEE DRRZEY B R
KM F16 R 17H 5 -

REERERBRAF
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk is minimal in the current year and is
managed by matching the raising of loans or equity funding to
cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

The maturity profile of the financial liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

MERMREREFEEHBKE 2

B EZ/m b

AEERFAZRDESRARER LB
BERIBABRERNARRSFRME
B-AEBZBRATEHNERERARED
MBESFRREBEERRL LR
HEERReFERNERRERZRS

RBEHR SRABEZRAORBBRNR
ZEBIBBRIT

Within one year or

on demand
—FURPRER
2015 2014
—E-RfF —T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Accounts payable FERTER SR 363
Financial liabilities included in other payables & ¥& X H th i (< 3 8 &

and accruals EstBRTzermEE 811
Interest-bearing other borrowings STEHMEER 209,326
210,500

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED




Equity and debt price risk

Equity and debt price risk is the risk that the fair values of
equity and debt securities decrease as a result of changes in
the levels of equity indices and the value of individual
securities. The Group is exposed to equity and debt price risk
arising from individual equity and debt investments classified as
trading investments (note 19) and available-for-sale investments
(note 15). The Group’s listed investments are either listed on
the Stock Exchange or Singapore Exchange Limited and are
valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
change in the fair values of the equity investments and debt
investments to which the Group has significant exposure at the
end of the reporting period, with all other variables held
constant and before any impact on tax. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the available-for-sale equity investments, the
impact is deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors such as
impairment which might impact the income statement.

RER EHERKER
P N (B 755 (B A8 LR 15 ph 0 A 45 BUK P
KA Bl 58 7 B E 2 8 8 BUR A R ERE
DFAER D 2 B o AR E 2 B I B
EBRERKADEREERE (MFE19) &
A ERE (MIFE15) Z (@R A i M AE
RE-AEBE 2 EMRED IR RZPTE
MNKBSFRGABRAR LT RBRE
HIRAT 5 BWEFE -

TRINTARERFEMREAZEARR

ZEERERBEBRENTFERHEE

5% 2 BURKE B IR T A b B B R
N RRET MRS E - LA TN
ﬂTTﬁ%k%&ﬁz Z T8y k)

AHHEREELRBZEE UEFR
AR ERER Z RESFAE-

Carrying Change
amount of in profit Change
investments  before tax in equity*
REZ B B¢ Al
REE s EEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETR  BETR

2015 B
Investments listed in: &2 T
- Hong Kong - held-for-trading — BB -F{EEE
- Hong Kong - available-for-sale —EBEA-AHBE
2014 —ZT-EF
Investments listed in: WEZ LTk
- Hong Kong - held-for-trading — BB —FEEE
- Hong Kong — available-for-sale — B -THEE

— Singapore — held-for-trading

* Excluding retained profits

—HINE—FHIEE R

3,601,798 180,090 =

39,461 = 1,973
1,811,288 90,564 -
18,507 - 925
25,311 1,266 -

* FEEREEN



Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements except for certain
subsidiaries engaged in the securities and futures broking
businesses and the provision of corporate finance advisory
services, which are regulated entities under the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and a
subsidiary, which is registered under the Hong Kong Insurance
Companies Ordinance (the “ICO"), are required to comply with
the respective minimum capital requirements of the SFC and
the ICO. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2015 and 2014.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing other borrowings divided by the equity
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at
the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

oy g

AEEEAER 2T EAREREAKHE
CRBRERNNEFREFZER L X
NXFBEXBRBBRRGERAEE.

AEERERERAZ B REREEL
ERFEEREEAEBYIEHRAE-R
MR AABEAGER AEEAERBIKR
HFRERZBEE MERRERERAKET
Mk -BREEFLPELLCEHEIR
HEXMEBRRBZ2ETHERR (5
REBEEHFLPEEHERZES ([&
EeDREZER) UL—RREEE
R N REDI (TR 2 BRI ) T2 Mt
BAR ANAEES RERBRRFIGREIZ
REEARESIN AEE L EZRRINEB
BMZEARE RBEE-_T—AFR_
T-MF=A=+—BLEFEARN TEEH
WHENBEHEEREREE BEREF-

AEERABELXREREERN EBELE
R BEMEBERUANQRHE ABIGHE
matE o RBERR NEEBZEEHEN
T

2015 2014

—F-1F —T-lF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEHMEER 320,255 208,731
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A2 al# A A &k # 25 3,454,526 3,204,217
Gearing ratio BELE 9.3% 6.5%
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36. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 3. EieMEEREMART
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The following tables represent details of financial instruments TREVNAFEBE 2SR T AFFE-
subject to offsetting.

2015
%-1f
Gross amounts
of recognised Net amounts of
financial financial assets Related amounts
liabilities ~presented  not set off in the consolidated
set off in the inthe  statement of financial position
consolidated ~ consolidated  TERGAHBHREREH L
Gross amounts ~ statement of  statement of BHeE
of recognised financial financial Financial - Cash collateral
Asset gE financial assets position position  instruments pledged  Net amount
REEHE
wRBxEEz  RERHE
EERER  CEILA HRBREIX BER
BEAE BEAE SREETE SHIE  REEWD ik

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRTR BRTR BETR BETR BETR BETR

Net amounts
Gross amounts  of financial
of recognised liabilities Related amounts
financial assets presented  not set off in the consolidated
set off in the inthe  statement of financial position
Grossamounts  consolidated  consolidated T ERGFAHHHRGREH L
of recognised ~ statement of  statement of el
financial financial financial Financial ~Cash collateral
Liability ag liabilities position position  instruments pledged  Net amount
REREH
HREREHEz  RERHE
oRASRE ORISR MRBREIZ 2E#
BEAE BESE SREETE $RIE  BeEAY R

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI

RRERERERLET NNE)
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36. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

6. Ef eI EREMART &)

2014
ZE-mE
Gross amounts  Net amounts
of recognised  of financial
financial assets Related amounts
labilities resented not set off in the consolidated
p R
et off in the in the s\tlaterneft of fl@f\\(ﬁl p05|t‘|’on
consolidated  consolidated TRREAMBHARREHL
Gross amounts ~ statement of  statement of ERLE
of recognised financial financial Financial = Cash collateral
financial assets position position instruments pledged  Net amount
REREH
HREREHEz  RERHE
BERSR  CERASR MNEREIZ EER
Asset BE BEAE BESE SREETE SRIE  ReEAW bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI

Accounts receivable ENER 197,381 (3932) 193,449 - - 193,449
Net amounts
Gross amounts  of financial
of recognised liabilities Related amounts
financial assets presented  not set off in the consolidated
set off in the inthe statement of financial position
Gross amounts  consolidated  consolidated  UERGREBARBREH L
of recognised ~ statement of ~ statement of il Kk
finandial finandial finandial Financial Cash collateral
Liability 8F liabilities position position  instruments pledged  Net amount
REGREHTH
RREREE.  RGAUE
EERSR  CRALE MRER2I2 BER
BELR EEBE SRBETE $RISE  REEAM 78

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB AR BB AR BB AR

Accounts payable ERES 4,295 (3932) 363 - - 363
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Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
following significant events of the Group occurred after the
end of the reporting period:

In April 2015, the Company entered into the First Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to issue and the Placing Agent agreed to
procure the First Subscribers to subscribe for 1,376,551,640
First Warrants with First Mandatory Exercise Rights, on a fully-
underwritten basis, at the First Issue Price of HK$0.01 per First
Warrant with First Mandatory Exercise Rights. The First
Subscription Price is HK$0.43 per First Warrant Share. Upon full
exercise of the First Subscription Rights attached to the First
Warrants with First Mandatory Exercise Rights, a total of
1,376,551,640 First Warrant Shares with par value of
HK$0.001 each will be issued under the First Specific Mandate.

In May 2015, the Company entered into the Second Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to issue and the Placing Agent agreed to
procure the Second Subscribers to subscribe for 688,275,820
Second Warrants with Second Mandatory Exercise Rights, on a
fully-underwritten basis, at the Second Issue Price of HK$0.01 per
Second Warrant with Second Mandatory Exercise Rights. The
Second Subscription Price is HK$0.55 per Second Warrant Share.
Upon full exercise of the Second Subscription Rights attached to
the Second Warrants with Second Mandatory Exercise Rights, a
total of 688,275,820 Second Warrant Shares with par value of
HK$0.001 each will be issued under the Second Specific Mandate.

Both the First Placing and Second Placing were approved by the
Shareholders at the SGM held on 24 June 2015. As at the date
of these financial statements, 1,376,551,640 First Warrants
with First Mandatory Exercise Rights and 688,275,820 Second
Warrants Shares with Second Mandatory Exercise Rights were
issued to warrantholders but no First Warrant Shares under the
First Placing or Second Warrant Shares under the Second
Placing were issued.

Details of the above events and the capitalised terms in the
above paragraphs were set out and defined in the circular of
the Company dated 9 June 2015.

In April 2015, the Company granted share options to certain
eligible persons under the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 31 August 2012 to subscribe for a total of
688,275,820 ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.001 each
at an exercise price of HK$0.49 per share (the “Share
Options”). As at the date of these financial statements, no
Share Options were exercised.

BREZEVBHRREMBITREEIN RE
HIRE AEBEELEUATEEZSE:

N-ZZE—RFEMA  ARFEREREL
T EMREERE Bt ARFREEITM
RMEREFEZ2ABEHEEERFESTILR
BANBRBTESHEHRREE (M
HEAREIITEE) BB TRE
1,376,551,64010 & #L B HERE (B A B it
BHIITERE) BARBELBREHRR
B B H0.4370 - e LRI RE (B
mEtanTER)NTN e REEE
FEHATER - A $£1,376,551,6400 B @
BEB0.001 T2 &R REE R IEEE
BIERIE T

RZZE—RFAA ARAHEERIERT L
EFE-HESHE B ARRIREETM
REREREREZEEHEEERFES MR
BAUNEZRBITEESHE _HRBREE
(M52 — LR Bl 1T 48 ) B 0.0 T RS
688,275,82010 55 —HLRRMERE (MRS —Ht
SEHITTERE) - NRBELEERE U
AL RE T PRAD B HE0.55TT « RS — HE AR AE
B (A E oo bl rTERE) WS it
REEREER B TE1% - £ 3£688,275,8200%F
AR E S #50.001 7T 2 5 Z #E R IR i B AR 1D
HIRER S ZIES R T

BARERE RSN —AF A
TN ASRTHRREER RS FEREY
MRS HKR B 1,376,551,64017
EHRREE (G oa s iTE®) &
688,275,82010 5 —HLIRMHERE (A —Ht
REITEE) BT TRREZREA E
W RARIE B R AL E 21T S AL R AR RE B AR 1 3k
RIEE IR ETITE MR RBAR D -

FREANFER LB ST BEARAEH
JIRARERARBERR/ T —RFRNHA
JLEZBEK

R-ZTE—RAFMNA  ARQRABREARE R
—E-—FN\AZ+—HEMAHERE
EMETEERALIRTFARTEESR
0,497 RBE A 688,275,820/ AL E
BEEBOOI L EBR ZERE ([HBK
)  RZSEMISHRE BB AR E
HEATlE -
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37.

38.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

In June 2015, the change of dual foreign name of the
Company from "REMEZERER AT to "RESRIZRE
R A ®]" was approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 15 June 2015. A copy of the
certificate of incorporation on change of name dated 16 June
2015 issued by the Registrar for Companies in the Cayman
Islands was received by the Company on 24 June 2015. The
Company have submitted an application to the Companies
Registry in Hong Kong to apply for a certificate of registration
alteration of name of registered non-Hong Kong company.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

37.

38.

REMEEER 2

RZE-RFRAA BRR-_ZT-AFRX
ATHEBETHORRENARE L ESA
NAEZEEIEBHEA [ RECEEREA
RARINASTRBRERIERBRAA] -
AARERZZE—HFRAZTHBEEE
MeERsSAREMER-"F—AF A
TARBEHZERERAMKLEEE
Ko RRBIERE LA FEME R FEM
HEBRREELEIAMERAE -

FLAFMBHRAE R

RBERREBAARRARBRRBR 2E
BT

2015 2014
—E-hfF —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETBE AR ZRE 72,360
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR - RS R E MR GE 71
Due from subsidiaries R NEIE ] 3,676,461
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTTHE % 1,292
Total current assets MENEEEE 3,677,824
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Due to subsidiaries R EENGIE 12,013
Other payables and accruals H fth fE T 5RIE R 5T B 1,949
Total current liabilities mEBEERE 13,962
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 3,663,862
NET ASSETS EEFE 3,736,222
EQUITY Em®
Issued capital BEITIR A 3,441
Reserves 1 3,732,781
Total equity M 3,736,222
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 3. ENFIMBRAEE 2
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Bt 5
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RABEER RN T
Reserves
G
Retained
Share Capital profits/
premium  redemption ~ Contributed  Distributable Shareholder's  Share option {accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve  contribution reserve losses) Total
BB A ZaH/

RiEER e HARH BE  RRLE ERERE (R5EE) it
Notes  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'00D  HK$'000  HKS000  HK§'000
WE  ANTn  BRTn ARTR ARTn BB¥n ARt BETn BRTR

At 1 April 2013 RZE-Z#H@A-A 1,447 401 485 39,521 827,213 15,000 - (56,655) 2,273,025
Fquity-settled share option arrangement  MEREBERE
T - - - - - 547 - 547
Exercise of share options RERE 24(a), 25 5253 - - - - (547) - 4706
Issue of new shares BHBRA 24(b) 41,679 - - - - - - 41,679
Capital reorganisation RAEH 24(0) - - - 46,841 - - - 46,841
Rights issue #k 24(d) 160,598 - - - - - - 160,598
Share issue expenses Rip%TRx (7.579) - - - - - - (7.578)
Profit and total comprehensive income  AEFRF R
for the year 2EMALE - - - - - - 1212963 1,212,963
At 31 March 2014 RZZ-ME=A=1-8 1,647,353 485 39,521 874,114 15,000 - 1,156,308 3,732,781
At 1 April 2014 RZZ-MERA-A 1,647,353 485 39,521 874,114 15,000 - 1,156,308 3,732,781
Issues of bonus shares BAR 2e) - - - - - - (6,883) (6,883)
Loss and total comprehensive loss TEEFER
for the year 2EFELE - - - - - - (2,637) (2,637)
At 31 March 2015 RZT-1%
ZA=1-H 1,647,353 485 39,521 874,114 15,000 - 1,146,788 3,723,261

39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 39. #t 6§ EH XK

The financial statements were approved and authorised for ZxepgR " ET—HFE A -t+HLBHE
issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2015. el R

RRERERERAE NS



A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- AEESAAEMBFEEZEEULEE AE
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as  NIFZEREZ 2B E(RHEEC A HEEZITH%
extracted from the published audited financial statements and XV EY EFHE/EFHF2HGRERM
restated/reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out below. SE))ETIAT

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1T—HLEE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
“E-HF —T-NMF —FE-—=F —T——F —FE——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTT BETT BETT  BETFT ABTT

CONTINUING OPERATIONS #HERLETK

REVENUE 0 &= (14,976) 227,678 75,701 8,759 82,163
Profit/(loss) before tax BEAEA S (BE) 462,387 480,082 329,214 (662,335)  (173,777)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fris®iEe, (FHAX) (42,816) (2,746) (1,792) 278 (1,159)

Profit/(loss) for the year from HEREEEZER
continuing operations wmH (EE) 419,571 477,336 327,422 (662,057)  (174,936)

DISCONTINUED OPERATION #&R IR« #£5%

Profit for the year from the & IFEEEE 2

discontinued operation F Mg A - - - 24,134 3,438
PROFIT/LOSS) FOR THE YEAR S R&ER, (E#E) 419,571 477,336 327,422 (637,923)  (171,498)
Attributable to: TH|A LT FEML:

Owners of the Company KRABHEE A 533,025 477,336 327,502 (639,172)  (189,530)

Non-controlling interests AR = (113,454) - (80) 1,249 18,032

419,571 477,336 327,422 (637,923) (171,498)

As at 31 March

WR=B=+-—8
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—E-HF —T—WNUF ZFT—=F ZT—=—F ZFT——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T BT T

TOTAL ASSETS EEH#E 5,429,365 3,419,621 2,822,294 2,228,446 2,851,884
TOTAL LIABILITIES EEHEE (368,289)  (215,404)  (322,372)  (277,081)  (350,060)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS JE#% j& fE % (1,606,550) - - (15,878) -

3,454,526 3,204,217 2,499,922 1,935,487 2,501,824
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